# PROVINCE OF THE EASTERN CAPE IPHONDO LEMPUMA KOLONI PROVINSIE OOS-KAAP **Provincial Gazette** lgazethi Yephondo Provinsiale Koerant

#### **CONTENTS • INHOUD**

No.

Page Gazette No. No.

#### **LOCAL AUTHORITY NOTICE**

7 Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996: Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality: Roads, Traffic and Safety By-Laws.....

2230

3

# LOCAL AUTHORITY NOTICE

#### **LOCAL AUTHORITY NOTICE 127**

## NELSON MANDELA BAY METROPOLITAN MUNICIPALITY BY-LAWS FOR ROADS, TRAFFIC AND SAFETY

Under the provisions of section 156 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996, the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality enacts as follows:-

#### Table of contents

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Principles and objectives

#### CHAPTER 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO USE OF ROADS

Part 1: Pedestrians

Duties of pedestrians

Part 2: Traffic lanes

- 4. Use of traffic lanes
- 5. Vehicle not to be driven on a sidewalk or footpath

Part 3: Parking

- 6. Control of parking
- 7. Parking in a loading zone
- 8. Parking at a bus stop
- 9. Parking in a public road
- 10. Parking upon a traffic island
- 11. Parking by a dealer
- 12. Parking of repaired vehicle
- 13. Parking of heavy vehicles and caravans
- 14. Exemption of medical practitioners from parking restrictions

Part 4: Obstruction on and work in public roads and public places, and water discharged onto public road

- 15. Obstruction
- 16. Work in roads or public places
- 17. Norms, standards and guidelines
- 18. Discharge of water on a public road
- 19. Overflow of water into public roads and public places

Part 5: Escorting of abnormal vehicles, events, processions and shows

- 20. Escort of abnormal vehicles
- 21. Races and sporting events
- 22. Processions and gatherings
- 23. Control of amusement shows and devices
- 24. Tariffs for assistance with racing events, sporting events, processions and other gatherings in general
- Part 6: Animals, animal-drawn vehicles and push or pull carts
- 25. Animals, animal-drawn vehicles and push or pull carts on public roads

Part 7: Collections and handbills

#### Collections and distribution of handbills

Part 8: Trolleys

27. Trolleys

Part 9: Wires and fencing

28. Barbed wire, dangerous and electrical fencing

#### Part 10: Miscellaneous prohibitions

- 29. Cleaning, repairing and cleanliness of a public road
- 30. Loitering and queuing on a public road
- 31. Poison in public roads or public places
- 32. Skating, games, and nuisances
- 33. Advertisements visible from a public road
- 34. Trees
- 35. Dumping of waste
- 36. Article placed in building facing a public road
- 37. Outspanning in a public road
- 38. Openings and doors on public roads
- 39. Miscellaneous prohibitions

Part 11: Closure and constructions and naming of public roads, numbering of premises, and direction of traffic

- 40. Closure of public roads and public places
- 41. Construction, maintenance, naming and declaration of public roads and public places
- 42. Numbering of premises

#### CHAPTER 2: PARKING METERS

- 43. The municipality may install parking meters or use any other device to record the time parked
- 44. Method of parking
- 45. Payment for parking
- 46. The municipality may prevent parking at a parking bay
- 47. Tampering or interfering with a parking meter or device
- 48. Prescribed coin only to be deposited
- 49. Unlawful operation of a parking meter
- 50. Unlawful parking and clamping or removal of unlawfully parked vehicles
- 51. Exemptions

#### CHAPTER 3: PARKING GROUNDS

#### Part 1: General provisions

- 52. The municipality not liable for loss or damage
- 53. Interference with an attendant
- 54. Payment of prescribed fee
- 55. Trading
- 56. Observance of signs
- 57. Parking and removal of a vehicle

- 58. Abandoned vehicle
- 59. Damage to notices
- 60. Negligent and dangerous driving
- 61. Entering or remaining in parking ground
- 62. Tampering with a vehicle
- 63. Defacing coupon
- 64. Defective vehicle
- 65. Cleaning of a vehicle
- 66. Refusal of admission
- 67. Parking hours and classes of vehicles
- 68. Reservation by the municipality
- Part 2: Mechanically controlled parking ground
- 69. Parking of a vehicle in a mechanically controlled parking ground
- 70. Removal of a vehicle from mechanically controlled parking ground
- Part 3: Pay-and-display parking ground
- 71. Parking of a vehicle in pay-and-display parking ground
- 72. Miscellaneous offences in respect of a pay-and-display parking ground

#### CHAPTER 4: PARKING ATTENDANTS

- 73. Prohibition
- 74. Registration of an organisation by the municipality
- 75. Conditions
- 76. Registration fee payable
- 77. Garments and identification of parking attendants
- 78. Conduct of organisations
- 79. Conduct of parking attendants
- 80. Cancellation or suspension of registration
- 81. Vicarious responsibility and liability of an organization

#### CHAPTER 5: TAXIS AND BUSES

# Part 1: Special parking places for taxis, permits and decals

- 82. Establishment of, and permits for, special parking places for taxis
- 83. Application for a taxi-rank permit
- 84. Issuing of a taxi-rank permit
- 85. Renewing of a taxi-rank permit
- 86. Temporary substitution of a taxi-rank permit
- 87. Transfer of a taxi-rank permit
- 88. Issue, display and duplication of decals
- 89. Payment of a taxi-rank permit fees
- 90. Amendment of particulars of a taxi-rank permit
- 91. Outstanding payments
- 92. A taxi-rank permit for partnership
- 93. A taxi -rank permit to be produced on demand
- 94. Suspension or withdrawal of a taxi -rank permit

- 95. Procedure for proposed suspension or withdrawal of a taxi-rank permit
- 96. Change of address
- 97. Amendment of the particulars on a taxi-rank permit

Part 2: Taxi associations, taxi forums, and taxi facilities

- 98. Taxi forums
- 99. Classes of taxi facilities
- 100. Taxi parking
- 101. Use of taxi ranks
- 102. Prohibition on parking of a taxi at a stopping place
- Regulation and control of taxi facilities
- 104. Servicing and washing taxis at taxi facilities
- Part 3: General use and operation of taxis
- 105. Preventing engagement of taxis
- 106. Conveying dangerous or offensive articles in taxis
- 107. Disinfecting a taxi after conveying passengers with infectious or contagious diseases
- 108. Boarding and alighting of taxis
- 109. Queues at facilities
- 110. Payment of fares
- 111. Rights and duties of passengers when a taxi becomes defective
- 112. Animals
- 113. Actions prohibited on a taxi
- 114. Behaviour prohibited at a taxi rank

#### Part 4: Metered taxis

- 115. Taximeters and display of identification
- 116. Metered fares
- 117. Tariffs to be displayed on taxis
- 118. Position of meter
- 119. Operation of meter
- 120. Meter indicators
- 121. Starting of meter
- 122. Taxi called but not engaged
- 123. Meter seals to be kept intact
- 124. Meter tolerances
- 125. Interference with meter prohibited
- 126. Meters liable to be tested at any time
- 127. Charge for testing meters
- 128. Meters may be condemned
- 129. Taxi signs for metered taxis

Part 5: Bus facilities and permits, and operation of buses

- 130. Establishment of bus facilities
- 131. Application and issue of bus permits, fees, display of decals, suspension and withdrawal of permit
- 132. General use and operation of buses

- 133. Distinguishing of demarcated stops and stands for buses
- 134. Duty of driver to stop
- 135. Boarding and alighting from a bus and passing of a school bus
- 136. Parking at stopping places for buses and destination signs

Part 6: Enforcement

- 137. Permit to be produced on demand
- 138. Unauthorised handing over or abandonment of bus or taxi
- 139. Enforcement of right of entry

Part 7: Miscellaneous provisions

- 140. Change of address of permit holder
- 141. Property left in passenger-carrying vehicles

#### **CHAPTER 6: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS**

- 142. Obeying and interfering with an officer
- 143. Appeal
- 144. Compliance notices and the recovery costs
- 145. Presumptions
- 146. Penalties
- 147. Saving and transitional provision
- 148. Repeal of by-laws
- 149. Short title and commencement

#### Schedule 1: Specification for roof signs for taxis

#### 1. Definitions

(1) In these by-laws, unless the context otherwise indicates:

"animal" means any equine, bovine, sheep, goat, poultry, camel, dog, cat, or other domestic animal or bird, or any wild animal, or reptile which is in captivity or under the control of a person, or insects, such as, but not limited to, bees which are kept or are under control of a person;

"approved" means approved by the municipality and "approval" has a corresponding meaning;

"authorised officer" means an inspector of licences, examiner of vehicles, examiner for driver's licences, traffic warden or a traffic officer, and includes any other person whom the Minister, by regulation, has declared to be an authorised officer; of the municipality;

"authorized official" means any employee of the municipality who is acting within the scope of his or her duties on behalf of the municipality and who is in uniform or with distinctive badge and appointment certificate of office;

"authorised person" means a person nominated by an organization and authorised by the municipality;

"balcony" means a platform projecting from a wall, enclosed by a railing, balustrade or similar structure, supported by columns or cantilevered out and accessible from an upper-floor door or window;

"bib" or "jacket" means a garment which fits around the chest of a person, which garment has a recognizable insignia identifying the person as a parking attendant and which is approved by the municipality;

"bridge" means a bridge, as contemplated in the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

"bus" means a motor vehicle designed or lawfully adapted by a registered manufacturer in compliance with the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), to carry more than 35 seated persons, excluding the driver, and includes a bus train;

"bus facility" means a stand or demarcated stopping place where passengers may board or alight from a bus for which a permit has been issued;

"bus train" means a bus which:

- (a) consists of two sections that connect to form a unit;
- (b) can swivel in a horizontal plane at the connections between such sections;
- (c) is designed or adapted solely or principally for the conveyance of the driver and at least 100 other persons; and
- (d) has a continuous passageway over its length;

"caravan" means any vehicle permanently fitted out for use by persons for living and sleeping purposes, whether or not such vehicle is a trailer;

"cart" means a cart other than the type described as a "soap box" cart and which is used for the transport of any goods or persons and which is pulled or pushed by any person or number of persons;

"combined parking meter" means an appliance in which more than one parking meter is contained;

"coupon" means anything whatsoever which, either by itself or in connection with any other thing entitles or purports to entitle the holder thereof to park any vehicle in a parking bay or parking ground, whether electronic or not and includes any device approved by the municipality from time to time;

"dealer" means a person who, for gain, carries on the business selling, buying, exchanging or garaging vehicles;

"decal" means a colour-coded sticker or other means of identification issued by the municipality to the holder of a taxi permit;

"demarcated parking bay" means a place referred to in section 80A of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), as a space laid out and marked in a public road or public place, the time and occupation by which a vehicle is intended to be recorded by a parking meter;

"demarcated stopping place or stand" means the stand for a bus as contemplated in section 134;

"donation" means any amount of money that a driver gives to a parking attendant on a voluntary basis for services rendered by the parking attendant;

"driver" has the meaning assigned to it by the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

"examiner of vehicles" means an examiner of vehicles registered and appointed in terms of Chapter 11 of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

"firearm" means a firearm, as contemplated in the Firearms Control Act, 2000 (Act 60 of 2000);

"footpath" means that portion or lateral extremities of the public road which, although not actually defined or made, is habitually used by pedestrians as a sidewalk;

"goods vehicle" means a motor vehicle other than a motor car or bus, designed or adapted for the conveyance of goods on a public road and includes a truck, tractor, motor cycle or motor tricycle;

"heavy motor vehicle" means a motor vehicle or a combination of motor vehicles the gross vehicle mass of which vehicle or combination of vehicles exceeds 3,500kg;

"holding area", in relation to a taxi, means a place, other than a rank, where a taxi remains until space for it is available at a rank or stopping place;

"marshal" means a person who arranges passenger and vehicle-related procedures at taxi facilities;

"mechanically or otherwise controlled parking ground" means a parking ground to which entry is controlled by a mechanism, such as a boom, which opens or is manually opened on presentation of proof that any payment was or is to be made as determined in the municipality's annual schedule of tariffs;

"metered parking bay" means a parking bay in respect of which a parking meter has been installed or in respect of which a hand held device or electronic payment system has been implemented;

"metered parking ground" means a parking ground or any part thereof where parking is controlled by means of a parking meter or meters;

"metered taxi" means a motor car designed for conveying not more than five people, including the driver, which must be fitted with a taximeter, as contemplated in Chapter 4;

"midi-bus" means a motor vehicle designed or lawfully adapted by a registered manufacturer in compliance with the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), to carry from 19 to 35 seated persons, excluding the driver;

"mini-bus" means a motor vehicle designed or lawfully adapted by a registered manufacturer in compliance with the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), to carry from nine to 18 seated persons, excluding the driver;

"Minister" means the Minister of Transport;

"motor car" means a motor vehicle, other than a motor cycle, motor tricycle or motor quadrocycle as defined in the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), designed or lawfully adapted by a registered manufacturer in compliance with the Act to carry not more than eight persons, excluding the driver;

"motor vehicle" means any self-propelled vehicle and includes-

- (a) a trailer; and
- (b) a vehicle having pedals and an engine or an electric motor as an integral part thereof or attached thereto and which is designed or adapted to be propelled by means of such pedals, engine or motor, or both such pedals and engine, or motor, but does not include-
  - (i) a vehicle propelled by electrical power derived from storage batteries and which is controlled by a pedestrian; or

(ii) a vehicle with a mass not exceeding 230 kilograms and specially designed and constructed, and not merely adapted, for the use of any person suffering from some physical defect or disability and used solely by such person;

"municipality" means the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality, and includes any political structure, political office bearer, duly authorised agent thereof or any employee thereof acting in connection with this by-law by virtue of a power vested in the municipality and delegated or sub-delegated to such political structure, political office bearer, agent or employee;

"operate", in relation to a vehicle, means to use or drive a vehicle, or to permit a vehicle to be used or driven on a public road, or to have or to permit a vehicle to be on a public road;

"operator" means a public transport operator, as defined in the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), being a person carrying on the business of a public passenger road transport service;

"organization" means a group of people, company, association or body representing parking attendants that operates a parking attendant service in certain geographical areas as approved by the municipality;

"owner" in relation to a vehicle, means -

- (a) the person who has the right to the use and enjoyment of a vehicle in terms of common law or a contractual agreement with the titleholder of such vehicle;
- (b) a person referred to in paragraph (a), for any period during which such a person has failed to return that vehicle to the titleholder in accordance with the contractual agreement referred to in paragraph (a); and
- (c) a person who is registered as such in accordance with Section 14 of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

"park" means to keep a motor vehicle, whether occupied or not, stationary for longer than is reasonably necessary to actually load or unload people or goods, but does not include keeping a vehicle stationary owing to a cause beyond the control of the person in charge of the vehicle;

"parking attendant" means a person in the employ of an organization to render a parking attendant service to drivers in a public place or on a public road, and includes a car watcher;

"parking bay" means a demarcated area within which a vehicle is to be parked in terms of these by-laws, demarcated as such upon the surface of a parking ground or a floor thereof;

"parking ground" means any area of land or any building set aside by the municipality as a parking ground or garage for the parking of vehicles therein by members of the public, whether or not charges are prescribed by this by-law for the use thereof;

"parking marshals" means a person in the employ of an organization to render a parking management service to drivers in a public place or on a public road;

"parking meter" means a device commissioned in terms of this by-law, registering and visibly recording the parking time either by means of a meter affixed to the device, or on a parking meter ticket issued by the device, or any other device by which parking time

can be recorded whether operated by an authorized official or a service provider approved by the municipality;

"parking period" means the maximum continuous period during which a vehicle is permitted to park in a parking ground or parking bay as indicated by a road traffic sign;

"particulars" means any form of information of a person or business and includes the name, surname, company name, residential, business or e-mail address, telephone, cellular or fax number, or any other such information;

"passenger" means any person in or on a vehicle, but does not include the driver or the conductor;

"passenger-carrying motor vehicle" means a taxi or a bus used or designed to convey passengers for reward;

"pay-and-display machine" means a machine installed at a pay-and-display parking ground for the sale of coupons;

"pay-and-display parking ground" means a parking ground in which a parking coupon must be obtained from a parking coupon vending machine which is situated in or in close proximity of the parking ground;

"prescribed" means determined by resolution of the municipality, and in relation to a fee, means as set out in the tariff policy of the municipality;

"prescribed coin" means a coin of the Republic of South Africa being legal tender in terms of the South African Mint and Coinage Act, 1964 (Act 78 of 1964), of the denomination indicated on the parking meter concerned and includes debit or credit cards and any other method of payment as may be approved and prescribed by the municipality from time to time;

"public place" means any square, park, recreation ground, sports ground, sanitary lane or open space which has:

- (a) in connection with any subdivision or layout of land into erven, been provided, reserved or set apart for use by the public, or the owners, or occupiers of such erven, whether or not it is shown on a general plan, plan of subdivision or diagram;
- (b) at any time been dedicated to the public;
- (c) been used by the public without interruption for a period of at least 30 years, or
- (d) at any time been declared or rendered such by the municipality or other competent authority;

"public road" means any road, street, cycle path, thoroughfare or any other place, and includes:

- (a) the verge of any such public road;
- (b) any footpath, sidewalk or similar pedestrian portion of a road reserve;
- (c) any bridge, ferry or drift traversed by any such public road;
- (d) any other object belonging to such public road, which has at any time been -
  - (i) dedicated to the public;
  - (ii) used without interruption by the public for a period of at least 30 years;
  - (iii) declared or rendered such by the municipality or other competent authority; or
  - (iv) constructed by a local authority;

- (e) any land, with or without buildings or structures thereon, which is shown as a public road on:
  - (i) any plan of subdivision or diagram approved by the municipality or other competent authority and acted upon; or
  - (ii) any general plan as defined in the Land Survey Act, 1997 (Act 8 of 1997), registered or filed in a deeds registry or Surveyor General's office, unless such land is on such plan or diagram described as a private public road;

"regulation" means a regulation under the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

"rank", in relation to a taxi, means a place upon a public road where a taxi may stand to ply for hire or to pick up passengers for their conveyance for reward;

"security officer" means a security officer, as defined in the Private Security Industry Regulation Act, 2001 (Act 56 of 2001);

"security service provider" means a security service provider, as defined in the Private Security Industry Regulation Act, 2001 (Act 56 of 2001);

"semi-trailer" means a trailer having no front axle and so designed that at least 15% of its tare is super-imposed on and borne by the vehicle drawing such trailer;

"sidewalk" means that portion of a public road between the outer boundary of the roadway of a road and the boundary lines of adjacent properties or buildings which is intended for the use of pedestrians;

"skateboard" mans a device, which includes mainly a flat object mounted on wheels, which is designed in such a manner as to provide room for only one person to stand or squat and is as such propelled by means of either human power or gravitation or both;

"special parking place" means a rank or stand established by the municipality on a public road within the municipality for the parking or standing of passenger-carrying motor vehicles;

"sporting event" means any sporting contest, including, but not limited to, any foot, skateboard, wind-driven object, cycle, motor, boat, horse or other animal race, and any other sporting contest, competition, tournament or game, whether usually attended by the public or not, and whether an entrance fee is charged or not;

"stand", in relation to a bus, means the place where a bus route starts or ends;

"stop" in relation to a taxi stopping on a public road, means to keep a taxi, whether occupied or not, stationary for a period of time no longer that is reasonably necessary for the actual loading or unloading of persons or goods, but does not include any such stopping by reason of a cause beyond the control of the driver of such taxi;

"stopping place", in relation to -

- (a) a taxi, means the place designated by the municipality where a taxi may stop to pick up or drop off passengers; and
- (b) a bus, means a demarcated stop where a bus may stop to pick up or drop off passengers;

"tare", in relation to a motor vehicle, means the mass of such a vehicle ready to travel on a road and includes the mass of:

(a) any spare wheel and of all other accessories and equipment supplied by the manufacturer as standard for the particular model of motor vehicle concerned;

- (b) anything which is a permanent part of the structure of such vehicle;
- (c) anything attached to such vehicle so as to form a structural alteration of a permanent structure; and
- (d) the accumulators, if such vehicle is self-propelled by electrical power, but does not include the mass of -
  - (i) fuel; and
  - (ii) anything attached to such vehicle which is not of the nature referred to in subsection (a) or (b);

"taxi" means a motor vehicle which plies for hire, is operated for reward, and includes-

- (a) a mini-bus, a midi-bus, motor tricycle or motor quadrocycle; and
- (b) a metered taxi;

"taxi association" means a taxi association recognized as such by the municipality and the Eastern Cape Province;

"taxi facility" means a holding area, special parking place, stopping place, rank, terminal and any other facility that is specifically identified and designated by the municipality for the exclusive use of taxis;

"taxi operator" means the person responsible for the use of the taxi, provided that in terms of Chapter IV of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), it means the person who has been registered as the operator of such vehicle;

"taxi rank" means a taxi facility identified by the municipality as a place where taxis stand to await passengers;

"temporary taxi facility" means a taxi facility contemplated in section 100(2);

"trailer" means a vehicle which is not self-propelled and designed or adapted to be drawn by a motor vehicle, but does not include a side-car fitted to a motor cycle;

"tri-cycle" means a three-wheeled cycle exclusively designed or prepared for the conveyance of goods and propelled solely by human power;

"token" in respect of a trolley, means a sign on which the name or trade name and the address of the owner appears;

"trolley" means any push trolley or push cart which is placed at the disposal of the public as buyers by any business undertaking or shop and which is used by the public to convey their purchases;

"vehicle" means a device designed or adapted mainly to travel on wheels, tyres or crawler tracks and includes such a device which is connected with a draw-bar to a breakdown vehicle and is used as part of the towing equipment of a breakdown vehicle to support any axle or all the axles of a motor vehicle which is being salvaged, other than such a device which moves solely on rails;

"veranda" means a structure in the nature of a roof attached to or projecting from the façade of a building and supported along its free edge by columns or posts;

"watercourse" means a watercourse, as defined in section 1 of the National Water Act, 1998 (Act 36 of 1998).

"work" means any work as defined in the operational manual, as contemplated in section 17;

(2) In these by-laws, a word or expression that has been defined in the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), has that meaning, unless the context otherwise indicates.

### 2. Principles and objectives

The Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Municipality, acting under the Constitution and relevant legislation, and being aware of its duty to control the use of roads, parking grounds, and to control motor vehicle attendants, taxis and buses within the area under its jurisdiction so as to provide a safe environment for all people within the municipal area, adopts these by-laws with the aim of controlling the use of roads and parking grounds within the area under its jurisdiction.

#### **CHAPTER 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO USE OF ROADS**

#### Part 1: Pedestrians

#### 3. Duties of pedestrians

- (1) Where a marked pedestrian crossing exists at an intersection, a pedestrian may only cross the intersection within the marked pedestrian crossing.
- (2) Where a traffic-control light signal ("robot"), which embodies pedestrian signals, operates at an intersection, a pedestrian may not commence to cross the roadway in a pedestrian crossing at the intersection while the red light of a pedestrian signal is displayed in the direction opposite to that in which he or she is proceeding.
- (3) Where no pedestrian signals are operating at an intersection, but such intersection is controlled by a traffic-control light signal, a pedestrian may not commence to cross the roadway in a pedestrian crossing at the intersection while the red light of the traffic-control light signal is displayed in the direction opposite to that in which he or she is proceeding.
- (4) Where a traffic-control light signal, which embodies pedestrian signals, are operating at a pedestrian crossing elsewhere than at an intersection, a pedestrian may only commence to cross the roadway in the pedestrian crossing when the green light of the pedestrian signal is displayed in the direction opposite to that in which he or she is proceeding.
- (5) A pedestrian, when crossing the roadway within a demarcated pedestrian crossing, whether at an intersection or otherwise, must walk on the left of the pedestrian crossing.
- (6) No person or persons may -
  - (a) sit or lie on a sidewalk, footpath or public road; or
  - (b) stand, congregate or walk so as to obstruct the movement of traffic or to the annoyance or inconvenience of the public.
- (7) No pedestrian may carelessly, negligently or recklessly disregard, or endanger his or her own safety, or the safety of a person or vehicle using a public road.
- (8) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### Part 2: Traffic lanes

#### 4. Use of traffic lanes

- (1) Where a roadway has been demarcated into traffic lanes, the driver of a vehicle -
  - (a) must drive so as to be entirely within a single traffic lane; and
  - (b) may not cause or permit his or her vehicle to encroach over a lane line which demarcates a traffic lane, except when moving from one lane into or across another.
- (2) Except when overtaking another vehicle proceeding in the same direction, or when making a right-hand turn at an intersection, or into a private driveway, the following vehicles must be driven in the left-hand traffic lane available for traffic or as close as practicable to the left edge of the roadway:
  - (a) a vehicle proceeding along a public road, which is demarcated into traffic lanes, at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the conditions then existing;
  - (b) an animal-drawn vehicle;
  - (c) a bicycle; and
  - (d) a heavy motor vehicle.
- (3) No person may turn any vehicle that draws a semi-trailer, trailer or combination of vehicles at any crossing for the purpose of driving in the opposite direction.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 5. Vehicle not to be driven on a sidewalk or footpath

- (1) A person may not drive, draw or propel a vehicle, excluding a perambulator or invalid's chair, upon a footpath or sidewalk designed for use by pedestrians, except when it is necessary to do so to cross (by the shortest route) a footpath or sidewalk for the purpose of entering or leaving property abutting thereon.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# Part 3: Parking

# 6. Control of parking

- (1) Whenever the public or a number of persons are entitled or allowed to use, as a parking place, an area of land, including land which is not part of a public road or a public place, an authorised official may, in cases of emergency or when it is desirable in the public interest, direct and regulate traffic thereon.
- (2) The municipality may manage parking and collect any fees related to parking or appoint a service provider to manage parking and to collect any fees related to parking.
- (3) No person may without the prior written approval of the municipality erect or place any sign or notice in any position or place indicating that parking in any parking bay is either reserved for a person or a class of persons.
- (4) The municipality may operate a parking management system or appoint a service provider to operate a parking management system in areas and during times determined by the municipality from time to time.

(5) A person who disregards an instruction of an authorised officer in terms of subsection (1) or who erects or places a sign or notice in contravention with subsection (3) or who contravenes subsection (4) commits an offence.

## 7. Parking in a loading zone

- (1) No person who operates or who is in charge of a vehicle on a public road may allow, subject to subsections (2) and (3), the vehicle to remain stationary in a loading zone -
  - (a) between the hours of 07:00 and 17:00 on Mondays to Fridays, except where such day is a Public Holiday;
  - (b) between the hours of 07:00 to 12:00 on Saturdays, except where such day is a Public Holiday; or
  - (c) between other restricted hours as may be specified in respect of a particular loading zone by a road traffic sign or marking.
- (2) No person who operates or who is in charge of a vehicle on a public road may allow a vehicle, other than a goods vehicle, to remain stationary in a loading zone for more than five minutes continuously and only while actually loading or off-loading persons or goods and while a licensed driver is in attendance at the vehicle.
- (3) No person who operates or who is in charge of a vehicle on a public road may allow a goods vehicle to remain stationary in a loading zone for more than 30 minutes continuously and only while the vehicle is being actually loaded or unloaded.
- (4) The driver of a vehicle, other than a goods vehicle, stationary in a loading zone must immediately remove the vehicle from the loading zone upon being directed to do so by an authorised official, even if the vehicle has not been stationary therein for longer than the maximum period allowed in respect of a vehicle of that class.
- (5) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

# 8. Parking at a bus stop

- (1) No person who operates or who is in charge of a vehicle on a public road may, in the case of a vehicle other than a bus, allow the vehicle to remain stationary in a bus stop between the hours of 06:00 and 18:00.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 9. Parking in a public road

- (1) No person who operates or who is in charge of a vehicle on a public road may park the vehicle in any public road within the municipal area for a period beyond that indicated on a road traffic sign relevant to the specific area.
- (2) No person may, without the written consent of the municipality, park a heavy motor vehicle designed, adapted or used for the conveyance of goods, between the hours of 21:00 and 06: 00 anywhere in the municipal area, except on private land or in those areas where road traffic signs regulating such parking have been erected.
- (3) Application for consent must be made on the form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 10. Parking upon a traffic island

- (1) No person may park a vehicle upon a traffic island, unless directed or instructed to do so by an authorised official.
- (2) A person who parks a vehicle upon a traffic island in contravention of subsection (1), or who fails to comply with a direction or instruction by an authorised official commits an offence.

#### 11. Parking by a dealer

- (1) No dealer may park or allow to be parked in a public road within the municipal area, in the course of the dealer's business carried on by him or her, a vehicle which -
  - (a) has been placed in his or her custody;
  - (b) is under his or her control; or
  - (c) is in his or her possession for the purpose of sale, exchange or garaging.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if at the time the vehicle is:
  - (a) being used for demonstration or testing purposes; or
  - (b) in the course of being delivered to the owner or purchaser thereof.
- (3) A dealer who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 12. Parking of a repaired vehicle

- (1) No person responsible for the control of a business of recovering or repairing vehicles may park, cause or permit to be parked, in any public road or place within the municipal area any vehicle that is in an obvious state of disrepair, which has been placed in his or her charge in the course of the business of recovering or repairing.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 13. Parking of heavy vehicles and caravans

- (1) No person may, for an uninterrupted period exceeding two hours, except on places reserved for the parking of heavy vehicles, park on a public road within the municipal area -
  - (a) a motor vehicle with a tare exceeding 3500 kg;
  - (b) a trailer;
  - (c) a semi-trailer, or
  - (d) a caravan.
- (2) Whenever a vehicle is parked in contravention of subsection (1), it is deemed that the owner thereof has parked such vehicle, unless the contrary is proved.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 14. Exemption of medical practitioners from parking restrictions

(1) (a) Registered general medical practitioners to whom a badge has been issued in terms of subsection (3)(a) are exempt from the provisions of any law, subject to paragraph (b), relating to parking in force in the municipality when using, on *bona fide* professional domiciliary visit, a motor vehicle on

- which is displayed a badge conforming with the requirements of subsection (2) issued to him or her by the municipality.
- (b) A person contemplated in paragraph (a) is not exempt from a provision prohibiting the stopping of a vehicle or the parking of a vehicle in a bus stop or across an entrance.
- (2) (a) The badge must be a windscreen sticker badge displaying on the face thereof -
  - (i) a serial number; and
  - (ii) the name of the person to whom it is issued.
  - (b) The badge must be displayed on the lower left corner of the windscreen and must have a pocket in which the person contemplated in subsection (1) inserts a white card showing the address at which the holder of the badge is actually making a professional domiciliary visit at the time the motor vehicle to which it is affixed is parked, and the address shown on the card must be easily legible from outside the vehicle.
  - (c) The address referred to in subsection 2(b) must be in the same street or a street adjoining the place where the vehicle is parked.
- (3) (a) Written application for the issue of a badge must be made to the municipality and if the municipality approves the application, it must issue a badge bearing a registered serial number to the applicant.
  - (b) The municipality must keep a register in which it records the serial number allocated by it of the badge, the issue of which has been authorised by it, and the name of the holder.
  - (c) The municipality may issue a duplicate badge.
  - (d) Where the Municipality has reason to believe that any holder of a badge is abusing a privilege conferred by the badge, it may withdraw the badge from the holder and the privileges conveyed by the badge shall thereupon cease.
  - (e) The municipality may charge a fee for the issuing of a badge or a duplicate thereof.
  - (f) The municipality may prescribe the period for which a badge will be valid.
- (4) Application for a badge must be made on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (5) A person who displays a forged badge or a badge which was not issued by the municipality commits an offence.

# Part 4: Obstruction on and work in public roads and public places, and water discharged onto public road

#### 15. Obstruction

No person may deposit, or cause to be deposited, or leave, or cause to be left sand, stone, earth, bricks, timber, lime, cement or other building or excavated material of whatever nature on a portion of a public road, sidewalk or footpath, unless it is

deposited within an enclosure in respect of which the written consent of the municipality has first been obtained.

#### 16. Work in public roads or public places

- (1) No person may undertake work in any public road, or public place, or on property belonging to the municipality without prior permission being obtained in terms of the operational manual as contemplated in section 17.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 17. Norms, standards and guidelines

- (1) The municipality may determine and publish norms, standards and guidelines which describe appropriate measures for work in public roads, public places or other property belonging to the municipality, and such norms standards and guidelines must be kept in the form of an operational manual.
- (2) The norms, standards and guidelines contemplated in subsection (1) may differentiate between communities, geographical areas and different kinds of premises.

#### 18. Discharge of water on public a road

- (1) No person may, without prior written permission of the municipality -
  - (a) lead or discharge water on, over or across a public road; or
  - (b) by any means whatever, raise the level of water in a river, dam or watercourse so as to cause interference with or endanger a public road.
- (2) (a) A person who wishes to perform an action, as contemplated in subsection (1), must submit to the municipality an application which contains full technical details of the proposed action, and the municipality may refuse or grant permission.
  - (b) Should the municipality refuse permission, it must supply the person with the written reasons for the refusal.
  - (c) Should the municipality grant the permission, it may do so subject to such conditions, requirements or specifications which it may determine in each individual case.
- (3) The municipality may, subject to any law which may be applicable and after obtaining permission of the owner and the occupier of the land concerned, if any:
  - (a) deviate a watercourse, stream or river if the deviation is necessary for:
    - (i) the protection of a public road or structure related to a public road; or
    - (ii) the construction of a structure connected with or belonging to a public road; and
  - (b) divert stormwater from or under a public road onto private property other than land containing buildings, other structures or improvements.
- (4) The municipality must compensate the owner or occupier of the land for damage caused as a result of acting under subsection (3), with an amount agreed upon between the municipality and the owner or occupier.

- (5) Application for permission must be made on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (6) A person who contravenes subsection (1) or a condition, requirement or specification imposed or determined by the municipality in terms of subsection (2)(c) commits an offence.

#### 19. Overflow of water into public roads and public places

- (1) No person may cause or allow any water other than rainwater to flow into a public road or public place.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### Part 5: Escorting of abnormal vehicles, events, processions, and shows

#### 20. Escort of abnormal vehicles

- (1) Escort, by traffic officers, of a vehicle that is abnormally large, or that transports unsafe loads will be provided by the municipality on application.
- (2) Subject to section 24, escort tariffs are charged per hour or part thereof per authorized officer and are calculated from the time as stipulated on the prescribed form until completion of the escort, provided that 30 minutes before commencement and 30 minutes after completion are included.
- (3) Escorts will only be supplied if all the requirements of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996) are compiled with.
- (4) Application for escorting by traffic officers in terms of subsection (1) must be submitted to the municipality on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality at least 14 days prior to date on which the escorting is required.

# 21. Races and sporting events

- (1) No person may hold a race or sporting event on any public road without the prior written permission of the municipality, and an application for permission to hold such a race or sporting event must be submitted in writing by the organiser of the race or sporting event to the municipality on the form prescribed by it at least 60 days prior to the envisaged event.
- (2) Assistance by traffic officers will be provided by the municipality on application, as contemplated in subsection (1).
- (3) The person contemplated in subsection (1) must pay to the municipality the required tariffs and deposit as contemplated in section 24 for the costs to be incurred during the race or sports event
- (3) A person who holds a race or sporting event in contravention of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 22. Processions and gatherings

(1) Subject to the provisions of subsection (7), no person may hold, organise, initiate or control a procession or gathering in a public road or public place, or dance, or sing, or play a musical instrument, or do anything which is likely to cause a gathering of

persons or the disruption or obstruction of traffic in such public road or public place, or use any loudspeaker or other device for the reproduction or amplification of sound without the written permission of the municipality in terms of subsections (2) and (3).

- (2) Any person who intends to perform or carry out any one or more of the actions described in subsection (1) in any public road or public place must apply to the municipality for permission on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality, which application must reach the municipality at least seven days before the date upon which any one or more of such actions is or are intended to be performed or carried out; however, persons who intend participating actively in a procession, or gathering in any public road need not apply to the municipality for permission thereto and it is not illegal for such persons to participate actively in such procession or gathering if the organiser, promoter or controller thereof has obtained the permission of the municipality.
- (3) An application made in terms of subsection (2) must contain the following:
  - (a) full details of the name, address and occupation of the applicant;
  - (b) full details of the public road or public place where or route along which any one or more of the actions prescribed in subsection (1) is or are intended to be performed or carried out, proposed starting and finishing times or any one or more of the aforesaid actions and, in the case of processions and gatherings, the number of persons expected to attend; and
  - (c) general details of the purpose of any one or more of the aforesaid actions intended to be performed or carried out.
- (4) Any application submitted in accordance with subsection (2) shall be considered by the municipality, and if any one or more of the actions to be performed or carried out as proposed in such application is or are not likely to be in conflict with the interests of public peace, good order or safety, the municipality may grant permission for the performance or carrying out of any one or more of such actions subject to such conditions as the municipality may deem necessary to uphold public peace, good order or safety.
- (5) The municipality may refuse to grant permission for the performance or carrying out of any one or more of the actions described in subsection (1), if the performance or carrying out of such action or actions is or are in conflict with the interests of public peace, good order or safety.
- (6) The municipality may withdraw any permission granted in terms of subsection (4), if, as a result of further information, the performance or carrying out of the action or action in question will be in conflict with the interests of public peace, good order or safety.
- (7) The provisions of this section do not apply to:
  - (a) wedding or funeral processions; and
  - (b) a gathering or demonstration as contemplated by the Regulation of Gatherings Act, 1993 (Act 205 of 1993), in which case the provisions of the Act will be applicable.
- (8) Assistance by traffic officers will be provided by the municipality on application, as contemplated in subsection (2).

(9) The person contemplated in subsection (2) must pay, where applicable, to the municipality the required tariffs and deposit, as contemplated in section 24, for the costs to be incurred during the race or sports event

#### 23. Control of amusement shows and devices

- (1) No person may set up or use in any public road or public place any circus, whirligig, roundabout or other side-show or device for the amusement or recreation of the public
  - (a) except with the written permission of the municipality first having been obtained and subject to such conditions as may be determined by the municipality;
  - (b) unless suitable sanitary conveniences for both sexes of the staff have been provided; and
  - (c) if it is in any way dangerous or unsafe for public use.
- (2) An application for permission to act in terms of subsection (1) must be submitted in writing by the owner or organiser of the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other sideshow or device to the municipality on the form provided for this purpose by the municipality at least 60 days prior to the date on which the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other side-show or device will be set up.
- (3) Assistance by traffic officers will be provided by the municipality on application, as contemplated in subsection (2).
- (4) The person contemplated in subsection (2) must pay, where applicable, to the municipality the required tariffs and deposit as contemplated in section 24 for the costs to be incurred during the duration of the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other sideshow or device.
- (5) An authorised official of the municipality must, for the purposes of inspection, at all reasonable times have free access to such circus, whirligig, roundabout or other sideshow or device.
- (6) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 24. Tariffs for assistance with racing events, sporting events, processions and other gatherings in general

- (1) The payment of deposits and tariffs to the municipality are subject to the following:
  - (a) the municipality may determine the estimated tariffs, and a deposit equal to these tariffs in respect, must be paid in cash or by bank-guaranteed cheque at the date of application as contemplated in section 20(4), 21(1) or (2), 22 (2) or (8), or 23(3) or (4);
  - (b) any mutual adjustment must be made after conclusion of the sporting event, procession or gathering, or the setting up of the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other side-show or device, as soon as the actual costs have been determined by the municipality;
  - (c) the municipality may, at its sole discretion, exempt an applicant from the payment of the tariffs and the deposit upon written reasons being provided

to the municipality prior to the commencement of the escorting, race or sporting event, procession or gathering, or the set up of the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other side-show or device. However, in the event that the municipality is unable to grant exemption for whatever reason prior to the commencement of the escorting, race or sporting event, procession or gathering, or the set up of the circus, whirligig, roundabout, or other side-show, or device the applicant must pay the tariffs, which shall, if exemption is granted thereafter, be refunded to the applicant;

- (d) the municipality may approve the appointment of marshals and prescribe their responsibilities and attire to perform functions on public roads or public places; and
- (e) the municipality shall prescribe the minimum number of marshals required to assist at a race or sporting event, procession or gathering, or the set up of the circus, whirligig, roundabout or other side-show, or device, racing event, sporting event, procession and a gathering in general.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a funeral procession.

#### Part 6: Animals, animal-drawn vehicles and push or pull carts

#### 25. Animals, animal-drawn vehicles and push or pull carts on public roads

- (1) No person may drive or cause to be driven an animal-drawn vehicle along or through public roads during the hours when it would be required of motor vehicles to have their lights switched on.
- (2) No person may drive or cause to be driven an animal-drawn vehicle along public roads with a gradient of 20° or more.
- (3) No person may push or pull any cart along or through public roads during the hours when it would be required of motor vehicles to have their lights switched on or along public roads with a gradient of 20° or more.
- (4) No person may on a public road shoe, clean, dress, train, break-in or turn loose an animal.
- (5) No person who owns or who is in charge of an animal which is on a public road, may leave the animal on the public road if the animal is severely injured, feeble, emaciated, diseased or dying, except for the purpose of seeking assistance for the removal of the animal.
- (6) No person who owns or who is in charge of livestock may allow the livestock to be at large on a public road within the municipal area of the municipality, and an authorised official may take any such livestock to a place designated by the municipality.
- (7) No owner of an animal or person -
  - (a) in charge of any wild or ferocious animal may allow such animal at any time to be insufficiently attended or at large in any public road or public place or may keep any such animal in such a manner as to be a danger or annoyance to the public;
  - (b) may allow, permit or cause any animal to graze or stray in or about any public road or public place; or

- (c) may in any way obstruct the pedestrian traffic on a sidewalk by bringing or allowing to be brought thereon any animal.
- (8) No person may
  - (a) simultaneously drive or be in control of more than one animal-drawn vehicle in a public road or public place;
  - (b) drive or be in control of an animal-drawn vehicle in a public road or public place if he or she is under 16 years of age; or
  - (c) if he or she is in control of an animal-drawn vehicle in a public road, allow a person under 16 years of age to drive or be in control of such vehicle.
- (9) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence, and a person who contravenes subsection (6) is liable, in addition to payment of the penalty, to pay to the municipality the cost incurred by it through the authorised official acting in accordance with subsection (6).

#### Part 7: Collections and handbills

#### 26. Collections and distribution of handbills

- (1) No person may without the prior written permission of the municipality, and subject to such conditions determined by the municipality -
  - (a) collect or attempt to collect money in a public road or public place or organise or in any way assist in the organisation of such collection;
  - (b) collect from door to door, beg or solicit or accept alms; or
  - (c) distribute a handbill or similar advertising material, or cause it to be distributed in any public road or public place, or place any handbill or similar advertising material, or cause it to be placed on or in any vehicle.
- (2) An application for permission in terms of subsection (1) must contain the following information and declarations:
  - (a) the name, address and a recent photograph of the applicant and any other person being in full age who is or are singularly or jointly responsible for the organisation, conduct and control of any such activity as contemplated in subsection (1)(a) to (c);
  - (b) the day on which and the hours between which the activity contemplated in paragraph (a) is to be undertaken;
  - (c) the portion or portions of the municipality wherein the activity contemplated in paragraph (a) is to be undertaken;
  - (d) the object or objects for which the activity contemplated in paragraph (a) is to be undertaken or any funds, where applicable, from the proceeds of the activity are to be applied;
  - (e) whether the entire amount of funds contemplated in paragraph (d) is to be handed over without deduction of any kind whatsoever;
  - (f) that no child under the age of 16 years will be employed or engaged in activity contemplated in paragraph (a);

- (g) that no the activity contemplated in paragraph (a) is to be undertaken before 7:00.and after 18:00, unless prior written approval for the extension of these hours have been granted by the municipality; and
- (h) if the activity relates to an activity contemplated in subsection (1)(a), proof that the organisation or person intending to hold the public road collection is authorised to collect a contribution in terms of the Non-profit Organisations Act, 1997 (Act 71 of 1997), or the Fund Raising Act, 1978 (Act 107 of 1978), as the case may be.
- (3) An application fee as determined by the municipality may be levied in respect of any application in terms of subsection 1(c).
- (4) Every organisation or person holding a public road collection is entitled to use its, his or her own identifiable collection boxes and if any organisation or person does not possess any boxes, the municipality's collection boxes may be used upon payment of the prescribed fee.
- (5) An organisation or person who contravenes subsection (1) or a condition contemplated in subsection (1), commits an offence.

#### Part 8: Trolleys

#### 27. Trolleys

- (1) The owner of a trolley must affix an identifying token in a conspicuous position on the trolley.
- (2) The owner or the person who controls or has the supervision over a trolley, or who offers it to be used by a person, or who uses it for any purpose whatsoever, may not leave or abandon it or permit it to be left or abandoned on a public road.
- (3) A trolley that has been left or abandoned on a public road may be removed, or caused to be removed, by an authorised official and be placed under the care of the official in charge of a municipal store which was established by the municipality for the purpose.
- (4) The official in charge of the store must store a trolley which has been placed under his or her care at the municipal store, and the municipality must publish once every month a notice in two newspapers circulating within the municipal area, which states -
  - (a) the name of the owner of the trolley, if known;
  - (b) the number of trolleys of the owner being so stored;
  - (c) that the trolley may be claimed by the owner from the municipality on payment of the prescribed fee for storage and on proof of ownership; and
  - (d) that a trolley that has not been claimed after a period of three months from the date of publication of the notice, may be sold by the municipality by public auction.
- (5) The proceeds of the public auction in terms of subsection (4)(d) is revenue in favour of the municipality for the following costs incurred by the municipality to defray expenses:
  - (a) the removal of such supermarket trolley;

- (b) the keeping of the supermarket trolley in custody;
- (c) the endeavour to trace the owner; and
- (d) the cost of the public auction,

and the remainder, if any, will be refunded to the owner of the supermarket trolley.

- (6) The municipality is not liable for the theft, damage to or loss of any trolley while the trolley is stored in the municipal store or when sold by public auction.
- (7) A person who contravenes subsection (1) or (2) commits an offence.

#### Part 9: Wires and fencing

#### 28. Barbed wire, dangerous and electrical fencing

- (1) No person may erect or cause or permit to be erected along a public road or public place, or may have along a public road or public place, an electrified fence, electrified railing or other electrified barrier, unless -
  - (a) the electrified fence, electrified railing or other electrified barrier is erected on top of a wall which may not be less than two metres high and built of brick, cement, concrete or similar material;
  - (b) the electrified fence, electrified railing, or other electrified barrier is designed and installed in accordance with a standard issued in terms of the Standards Act, 1993 (Act 29 of 1993); and
  - (c) the person has obtained the prior written consent of the municipality in terms of the National Building Regulations and Building Standards Act, 1977 (Act 103 of 1977).
- (2) (a) A person who wishes to erect an electrified fence, electrified railing or other electrified barrier as contemplated in subsection (1), must submit to the municipality an application for permission, which application contains full technical details of the proposed electrified fence, electrified railing or other electrified barrier, and the municipality may refuse or grant the permission.
  - (b) Should the municipality refuse permission, it must supply the person in writing with the reasons for the refusal.
  - (c) Should the municipality grant the permission, it may do so subject to conditions, requirements or specifications which it may determine in each individual case.
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) apply to an owner or occupier of an agricultural holding or farm land as well.
- (4) No owner or occupier of land may erect, or cause, or permit to be erected along a public road or public place a barbed-wire fence, railing, paling, wall or other barrier which, by reason of -
  - (a) spikes or other sharp or pointed protrusions; or
- (b) the nature of its construction or design, is or may become a danger to a member of the public using the public road or public place.

- (5) Subsection (4) does not apply to an owner or occupier of an agricultural holding or farm land.
- (6) Application for permission must be made on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (7) A person who erects or causes or permits to be erected along a public road or public place, or who has along a public road or public place, an electrified fence, electrified railing or other electrified barrier without having first obtained the prior written consent of the municipality in terms of subsection (1)(c), or who does not comply with any specifications or conditions prescribed or imposed in terms of subsection (2)(c) or who contravenes subsection (4) commits an offence.

#### Part 10: Miscellaneous prohibitions

#### 29. Cleaning, repairing and cleanliness of public road

- (1) No person may clean any part of a vehicle, or wash, dry or paint any article or object on any public road.
- (2) No person may repair any part of a vehicle on any public road, except when minor repairs necessitated by a temporary or sudden stoppage of the vehicle need to be done for the purpose of setting the vehicle in motion.
- (3) No person may spill, drop or place or permit to be spilled, dropped or placed, on any public road any matter or substance that may interfere with the cleanliness of the public road, or cause or is likely to cause annoyance, danger or accident to a person, animal, vehicle or other traffic using the public road.
- (4) A person who performs an action contemplated in subsection (3) must immediately remove or cause to be removed the matter or substance from the road, and if the person fails to remove the matter or substance, the municipality may remove the matter or substance and recover the cost of removal from the person.
- (5) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

# 30. Loitering and queuing on public road

- (1) No person may -
  - (a) lie or sit so as to obstruct traffic on a public road;
  - (b) loiter, or walk, or otherwise act on a public road in a manner that may obstruct traffic; or
  - (c) stand or congregate, except when forming part of a queue, on a public road within 20 metres of the entrance to a place of public entertainment so as to obstruct traffic or a person proceeding to, attending at, or departing from the place of entertainment.
- (2) A person performing any of the prohibited acts mentioned in subsection (1) must, upon instruction by an authorised official, discontinue to do so.
- (3) A person who contravenes subsection (1) or who fails to comply with an instruction by an authorised official commits an offence.

#### 31. Poison in public roads or public places

- (1) No person other than an official of the municipality or an authorised person who administers legally approved weed-killers or poisons, may use, set or cast poison in any public road or public place.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 32. Skating, games, and nuisances

- (1) No person may, except with the written permission of the municipality first having been obtained -
  - (a) skate on roller skates or a skate board or a similar device in or on a public road or public place or in or upon an area where skating is prohibited by an applicable road traffic sign; or
  - (b) roll any hoop, or fly any kite, throw or hit stones or balls, or use any bow and arrow or catapult, or by any means discharge any missile upon, over, or across any public road.

#### (2) No person may –

- (a) play cricket, or football, or any game, or indulge in any pastime whatsoever in or upon any public road, except on such places as the municipality may set apart for the purposes of a particular game, sport or pastime; or
- (b) do anything in a public road or public place which may endanger the life or safety of any person, animal or thing or create a nuisance, obstruction or annoyance to the public.
- (3) Application for permission in terms of subsection (1) must be made on the form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) or (2) commits an offence.

## 33. Advertisements visible from public road

- (1) Subject to the municipality's regulations pertaining to the display of advertising signs, no person may display any advertisement, placard, poster or bill in a public road except with the written permission of the municipality and subject to such conditions as may be determined by the municipality.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 34. Trees

- (1) No person may:
  - (a) plant a tree or shrub in a public road or public place, cut down a tree or a shrub in a public road, or public place, or remove it there from, except with the written permission of the municipality;
  - (b) climb, break or damage a tree growing in a public road or public place; or
  - (c) in any way mark or paint any tree growing in a public road or public place or, subject to the municipality's regulations pertaining to the display of advertising signs, attach any advertisement thereto.
- (2) Any tree or shrub planted in a public road or public place is the property of the municipality.

- (3) Whenever there is upon any property any tree or other growth which interferes with overhead wires or is a source of annoyance, damage, danger or inconvenience to persons using a public road or public place, the municipality may by notice in writing order the owner or occupier of such property to prune or remove such tree or growth to the extent and within the period specified in such notice.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1), or who fails to comply with a notice issued in terms of subsection (3) commits an offence.
- (5) If any person fails to comply with a notice in terms of subsection (3), the municipality may itself prune or remove the tree or growth at the expense of the person on whom the notice was served.

#### 35. Dumping of waste

- (1) Subject to the municipality's waste management by-laws, no person, except with the written permission of the municipality and subject to such conditions as may be determined by the municipality, may
  - (a) dump, leave or accumulate any garden refuse, motor vehicle wrecks, spare parts of vehicles, building or waste materials, rubbish or any other waste products in any public road or public place; or
  - (b) permit any such objects or substances to be dumped or placed in a public road or public place from premises owned or occupied by him or her.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 36. Article placed in building facing public road

- (1) No person may place in a building or other part of a building near a public road an article which, if it were to fall, is likely to cause injury or damage to a person or property, without taking all reasonable steps against it falling onto the public road.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 37. Outspanning in public roads

- (1) No person may outspan or allow to be outspanned in any public road or public place any vehicle drawn by animals, or detach or leave in any public road or public place any trailer, caravan or vehicle which is not self-propelled, however, this provision does not apply when such vehicle is being loaded or unloaded.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 38. Openings and doors on public roads

- (1) No person may leave open -
  - (a) any entrance from a public road; or
  - (b) any vault, cellar, basement, or underground room without a sufficient fence or handrail to prevent persons from falling into such vault or leave any door or other covering on such vault in a defective condition.
- (2) No person may leave any manhole or opening in an unsafe condition.
- (3) No person may open or remove any manhole cover without the written authority of the municipality or unless such opening or removal is in the executing of his duty.

(4) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 39. Miscellaneous prohibitions

- (1) No person may, in a public road or public place
  - (a) sing an obscene or profane song;
  - (b) use profane, foul, indecent or obscene language;
  - (c) use threatening, abusive or insulting words, or make gestures, or behave in a manner with intent to cause a breach of the peace or whereby a breach of the peace is likely to be occasioned;
  - (d) erect a tent or place a chair or any article for the purpose of a funeral, party or any other event without the prior written permission of the municipality;
  - (e) use, or drive, or cause, or permit to be used or driven a cart of the type known as a "soap box cart" or any other cart of the like nature, otherwise than in the course of or for the purpose of business. However the municipality may permit the use of a cart in connection with an organised sports event, game, or race;
  - (f) operate a motor vehicle in such a manner as to cause excess noise which can be avoided by the exercise of reasonable care on his or her part;
  - (g) or place on, under or across a public road or public place a rope, wire or pole, or hang or place anything whatsoever thereon without the prior written permission of the municipality;
  - (h) when travelling on a public road upon a pedal cycle, motor cycle, coaster or similar device, cling to or attach himself or herself or the pedal cycle, motor cycle, coaster or similar device to any other moving vehicle;
  - (i) appear unclothed or appear without being clothed in such a manner as decency demands.
  - or in view of a public road, urinate, excrete, behave in an indecent manner by exposing his or her person, or make use of an indecent gesture or commit, solicit or provoke a person to commit a riotous, disorderly or indecent act;
  - (k) operate a rickshaw or similar carriage;
  - (l) ride on a pedal cycle or tri-cycle at night without being clearly visible from a distance of not less that 50m and such cycle must be equipped with a lamp emitting white light to the front and a lamp emitting red light to the back of such cycle;
  - (m) use or permit to be used
    - (i) any cycle excluding a tricycle, to carry goods exceeding 50kg in mass; or
    - (ii) any tricycle to carry goods exceeding 110kg in mass;
  - (n) carry any other person upon the handlebars, frame or tank of a cycle or motorcycle, or ride in above manner upon any such vehicle.
  - (o) carry or convey through the carcass of an animal or any garbage, night soil, refuse, litter, rubbish, manure, gravel or sand, unless -

- (i) it is properly covered; and
- (ii) it is conveyed in such type of container or in such a manner as will not allow any offensive liquids or parts of the load to be spilt in the public road or public place;
- (p) dry or spread washing on a fence on the boundary fence;
- (q) beat or shake any carpet, rug or mat, except doormats shaken or beaten before 08:00 in the morning;
- (r) carry any large bundle, or basket, or any pointed or edged tools not properly protected, or any ladder, plank or pole, or any bag of soot, lime or other offensive substance, or other package or thing calculated to obstruct, inconvenience, or annoy pedestrians upon any footpath, except for the purpose of loading or unloading any vehicle or when necessarily crossing the footpath;
- (s) deface, damage or in any way interfere with any notice board, road traffic sign, public road name board or other similar sign or any hoarding which has been erected in a public road or public place by or with the permission of the municipality;
- (t) sleep in a vehicle other than a motor vehicle parked in a taxi rank or on some other stand duly allocated by the municipality;
- (u) erect any shelter;
- (v) wash or dry clothes, blankets or any other domestic articles;
- (w) fight or act in a riotous manner;
- (x) discharge a firearm, airgun or air-pistol;
- (y) annoy or inconvenience any other person by yelling, shouting or making any noise in any manner whatsoever;
- (z) solicit or importune any person for the purpose of prostitution or immorality;
- (aa) engage in gambling;
- (bb) use intoxicating liquor or drugs;
- (cc) wash himself or herself; or
- (dd) spit.
- (2) Application for permission in terms of subsection (1)(d), (e) and (g) must be made on the form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# Part 11: Closure and constructions and naming of public roads, numbering of premises, and direction of traffic

# 40. Closure of public roads and public places

- (1) No person may, without the approval of the municipality, close or barricade any public road or public place or restrict access thereto.
- (2) The municipality may permanently close or divert any public road or public place or part thereof or restrict access to any public road or public place.

- (3) When the municipality decides to act in terms of subsection (2), it must give notice of such intention in terms of its communication policy, and in the absence of such policy, the municipality must give notice of its intention in a local newspaper in at least two official languages.
- (4) Any objection against the intended action must be delivered in writing to the municipality within 30 days from the date of notification in terms of subsection (3).
- (5) The municipality may, without complying with the provisions of subsection (3):
  - (a) temporarily close a public road or public place:
    - (i) for the purpose of or pending the construction, reconstruction, maintenance or repair of such public road or public place;
    - (ii) for the purpose of or pending the construction, erection, laying, extension, maintenance, repair or demolition of any building, structure, works or service alongside, on, across, through, over or under such public road or public place
      - (aa) if such public road or public place is dangerous to traffic;
      - (bb) by reason of any emergency or public event which requires special measures for the control of traffic or special provision for the accommodation of crowds; or
    - (iii) for any other reason which renders the temporary closing of such public road necessary; and
  - (b) temporarily divert a public road which has been closed in terms of paragraph (a).
- (6) The municipality may in its discretion, for general information, place a notice of such temporary closure in terms of subsection (5) in a local newspaper.
- (7) Application for permission in terms of subsection (1)(d), (e) and (g) must be made on the form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (8) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 41. Construction, maintenance, naming and declaration of public roads and public places

- (1) The municipality may -
  - (a) make, construct, reconstruct, alter and maintain a public road or public place; and
  - (b) name and re-name public roads or public places.
- (2) The municipality may
  - (a) declare any land or portion of land under its control to public road, or any public road or portion thereof to be a public place;
  - (b) declare any private public road or portion thereof to be a public road, or any place or portion thereof to be a public place.
- (3) When the municipality decides to act in terms of subsection (1), it must give notice of such intention in terms of its communication policy, and in the absence of such policy, the municipality must give notice of its intention in a local newspaper in at least two official languages.

(4) Any objection against the intended action must be delivered in writing to the municipality within 30 days from the date of notification in terms of subsection (3)

#### 42. Numbering of premises

- (1) The municipality may prescribe by notice in writing to the owner of any premises that a number allocated to such premises by the municipality must be displayed, and the owner of such premises must, within 30 days of the date of such notice, display the allocated number on the premises.
- (2) A number displayed as contemplated by subsection (1) must
  - (a) be displayed in a conspicuous position on the premises and must at all times be visible and legible from the adjacent public road; and
  - (b) be replaced by the owner of the premises as often as it gets obliterated, defaced or illegible.
- (3) The municipality may allocate and re-allocate numbers to properties abutting on public roads and public places.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) or (2) commits an offence.

#### **CHAPTER 2: PARKING METERS**

# 43. The municipality may install parking meters or use any other device to record the time parked

- (1) The municipality may install or cause to be installed or use or allow to be used in a public road or place in the municipal area
  - (a) a parking meter at a demarcated parking bay; or
  - (b) a combined parking meter at demarcated parking bays; or
  - (c) any other device by which parking time can be recorded and displayed.
- (2) The municipality may install a parking meter contemplated in subsection (1) upon the kerb, footpath or sidewalk which adjoins the parking bay or bays in respect of which it is installed or at any other place in close proximity that serves the parking bay.
- (3) In the instance where a parking meter is not automatically activated by the insertion of a prescribed coin, a notice, which indicates the kind of action to be taken in order to set the meter in operation once the prescribed coin has been inserted, must be clearly displayed on the parking meter.
- (4) In the instance where a meter is out of order, an authorised official may securely place over the meter a hood carrying in legible letters the words: "Out of order" and in such instances a vehicle may be parked without payment of the prescribed amount.

#### 44. Method of parking

- (1) No driver or person in charge of a vehicle may park the vehicle
  - (a) in a metered parking bay across a painted line marking the bay or in such a position that the vehicle is not entirely within the area demarcated as a metered parking bay;
  - (b) in a metered parking bay which is already occupied by another vehicle; or

- (c) in a metered parking bay in contravention of a road traffic sign which prohibits the parking or stopping of vehicles in the public road or portion of the public road concerned.
- (2) A person who contravenes the provisions of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 45. Payment for parking

- (1) (a) When a vehicle is parked in a parking bay, the driver or person in charge of the vehicle must:
  - (i) immediately deposit or cause to be deposited in the parking meter which adjoins the parking bay or bays in respect of which it is installed the prescribed coin or coins as indicated on the meter for the period of time during which he or she desires to park his or her vehicle in the bay, and must, where applicable, set the meter in operation either by inserting the prescribed coin in the appropriate slot of the parking meter, or where applicable, in accordance with the instructions appearing on the parking meter; or
  - (ii) effect payment by any other means prescribed by the municipality irrespective of the device used to record the time parked and irrespective whether payment is required at the beginning or end of the period so parked,

and a driver or person in charge of a vehicle who fails to do so, commits an offence.

- (b) When a vehicle or a vehicle and a trailer is of such dimensions that it occupies more than one metered parking bay, the driver or person in charge of the vehicle must:
  - (i) immediately deposit or cause to be deposited in the parking meter which adjoins the parking bay or bays in respect of which it is installed the prescribed coin or coins as indicated on the meter for the period of time during which he or she desires to park his or her vehicle in the bay, and must, where applicable, set the meter in operation either by inserting the prescribed coin in the appropriate slot of the parking meter, or where applicable, in accordance with the instructions appearing on the parking meter; or
  - (ii) effect payment by any other means prescribed by the Municipality irrespective of the device used to record the time parked and irrespective whether payment is required at the beginning or end of the period so parked,

and a driver or person in charge of a vehicle who fails to do so, commits an offence.

(c) On completion of the actions prescribed in paragraph (a) and (b), the metered parking bay may be lawfully occupied by the vehicle during the period which is indicated on the parking meter, however, subject to paragraph (d), a driver or person in charge of a vehicle may, without payment, park the vehicle during such time (if any) as may be indicated on

- the parking meter as being unexpired from its previous use, provided that the Municipality may cancel any paid for time remaining on a meter after a vehicle for which the parking was paid for vacated the parking bay.
- (d) Subsection (c) does not apply to any parking bay where unexpired time is not visibly displayed.
- (2) Subject to the provisions of subsection (3), the driver or person in charge of a vehicle may again, when the authorised period of parking has expired, immediately set the parking meter in operation as set out in subsection (1)(a), and after the meter has been set in operation, the vehicle may lawfully occupy the parking bay for the further period indicated on the parking meter.
- (3) No person may leave a vehicle parked in a parking bay for a continuous period exceeding the maximum permissible parking time as indicated on the meter or other device, and a person who leaves a vehicle parked in a parking bay for a continuous period exceeding the maximum permissible parking time as indicated on the meter, a sign or device, commits an offence. (4) Subject to the provisions of section 17, no driver or person in charge of a vehicle may cause, allow, permit or suffer the vehicle to be or remain parked in a metered parking bay while the indicator of the parking meter shows that
  - (a) the time has expired; or
  - (b) that the parking meter has not been set in operation either by the insertion of the prescribed coin or, where applicable in accordance with the instructions appearing on the parking meter,

and a driver or person in charge of a vehicle who contravenes a provision of this subsection commits an offence.

- (5) Where a parking meter cannot be set in operation despite compliance or attempted compliance with the procedure prescribed in subsection (1)(a), no driver or person in charge of a vehicle may cause, allow, permit or suffer the vehicle to be or remain parked in the parking bay for a continuous period exceeding the period which was indicated by the indicator of the parking meter when such vehicle was parked in the said parking bay, however if
  - (a) the indicator shows that
    - (i) the time has expired;
    - (ii) the parking meter has not been set in operation; or
  - (b) a hood has been placed over the parking meter as envisaged in section 27(5), no driver or person may cause, allow, permit or suffer the vehicle to be or remain parked in the parking bay,

and a driver or person in charge of a vehicle who contravenes a provision of this subsection commits an offence.

# 46. The municipality may prevent parking at a parking bay

An officer authorised by the municipality to display road traffic signs may, whenever necessary or expedient to do so in the interests of the movement or control of traffic, place or erect a traffic sign or signs indicating "No Stopping" or "No Parking" at a

parking bay or bays, and no person may stop or park a vehicle or cause or permit a vehicle to be stopped or parked in such parking bay or bays —

- (a) while the sign is so placed or erected; or
- (b) during any period when the stopping or parking of a vehicle in the public road or portion of the public road concerned is prohibited in terms of such traffic sign, and a person who contravenes a provisions of this section commits an offence.

#### 47. Tampering or interfering with a parking meter or device

- (1) No person may misuse a parking meter or interfere, or tamper, or attempt to misuse, interfere or tamper with the working operation or mechanism of a parking meter.
- (2) No person may, without authority from the municipality, affix or attempt to affix or place a placard, advertisement, notice, list, document board or thing on a parking meter.
- (3) No person may paint, write upon or disfigure a parking meter.
- (4) No person may, without the consent of a parking marshal, remove or tamper with any device in the possession of such parking marshal.
- (5) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 48. Prescribed coin only to be deposited

- (1) No person may deposit or cause to be deposited in a parking meter anything whatever other than the prescribed coin or coins.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 49. Unlawful operation of a parking meter

- (1) No person may operate or attempt to operate a parking meter by any means other than as prescribed in these by-laws.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 50. Unlawful parking and clamping or removal of unlawfully parked vehicles

- (1) No person may cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle to be parked in a metered parking bay, except as permitted by the provisions of these by-laws.
- (2) Where any vehicle is found to have been parked in contravention of these bylaws, it is deemed to have been parked, or caused to be parked, or allowed to have been parked by the person in whose name the vehicle is registered unless and until he or she adduces evidence to the contrary.
- (3) The municipality may:
  - (a) attach a wheel clamp to any unlawfully parked vehicle;
  - (b) or cause an unlawfully parked vehicle to be removed to a place designated by the municipality; and
  - (c) charge a fee for the removal of a wheel clamp attached in terms of subsection (3)(a) or the release of a vehicle which was removed from in terms of subsection (3)(b), which fees will be payable upon removal of such wheel clamp or release of such vehicle.

(4) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 51. Exemptions

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provision in these by-laws, the driver or person in charge of the following vehicles may, subject to the provisions of this section, park in a metered parking bay without payment of the prescribed fee:
  - (a) a vehicle used as an ambulance and being at the time used on urgent ambulance service;
  - (b) a vehicle used by a fire brigade for attendance at fires and being at the time used by the brigade in carrying out its duties; and
  - (c) a vehicle used by a member of the South African Police Service and being at the time used in connection with the execution of urgent police duties.
- (2) Subject to any time limits or restrictions regarding the stopping or parking of vehicles as are prescribed by any other law, or regulations, or by-laws made thereunder, a metered parking bay may be occupied without charge on
  - (a) Sundays and Public Holidays;
  - (b) Saturdays after 13h00; and
  - (c) any other day of the week during the period from 17h00 to 08h00 on the following day.

#### CHAPTER 3: PARKING GROUNDS

### Part 1: General provisions

## 52. The municipality not liable for loss or damage

The municipality is not liable for the loss of or damage howsoever caused, to any vehicle, or any accessories or contents of a vehicle which has been parked in a parking ground.

#### 53. Interference with an attendant

- (1) No person may obstruct, hinder or in any manner interfere with an authorised official or a parking marshal employed by an appointed service provider to the municipality, who is the attendant of the parking grounds in the exercise of his or her duties under these by-laws.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 54. Payment of prescribed fee

- (1) A person making use of a parking ground or parking bay must, where fees have been determined in respect of the parking ground or parking bay, pay the prescribed fee.
- (2) The municipality may in respect of a parking ground controlled by the issue of coupons, issue at the prescribed fee a coupon which entitles the holder for one calendar month or any lesser period stated in the coupon to park a vehicle in the ground, if a parking bay is available, at the times stated in the coupon.

- (3) The municipality may issue to any of its officials a coupon which entitles the holder, when using a vehicle regarding the business of the municipality, to park the vehicle in a parking ground specified, if space in the parking ground is available.
- (4) A coupon issued under subsection (2) or (3)
  - (a) may not, without the prior written consent of the municipality
    - (i) be transferred to any other person; or
    - (ii) be used in respect of any vehicle other than the specified vehicle; and
  - (b) must be affixed by the holder of the coupon to the vehicle in respect of which it is issued in such manner and place that the written or printed text of the coupon is readily legible from the outside of the vehicle.
- (5) Application for consent contemplated in subsection (4)(a) must be made on a form provided for this purpose by the municipality.
- (6) A person who contravenes subsection (1), or who uses a parking ground or parking bay when the period for which a coupon was issued in terms of subsection (2) has elapsed, or who contravenes a provision of subsection (4) commits an offence.

### 55. Trading

- (1) No person may upon a parking ground carry on any business, trade or calling or perform any act in connection therewith.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 56. Observance of signs

- (1) A person in a parking ground must observe and comply with any traffic or other sign, notice or surface marking which is placed or displayed on the parking ground for the purpose of directing and regulating vehicles using the parking ground or the entrance or exit to the parking ground.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 57. Parking and removal of vehicle

- (1) No person may in any parking ground park a vehicle otherwise than in compliance with an instruction or direction given by an authorised official, or introduce or remove a vehicle otherwise than through an entrance or exit to the parking ground demarcated for that purpose.
- (2) Where parking bays have been demarcated in a parking ground, no person having control or charge of a vehicle may park the vehicle
  - (a) in a place on the parking ground which is not a demarcated parking bay, unless instructed to do so by the authorised attendant at the parking ground;
  - (b) in a parking bay across a painted line marking the bay or in such a position that the vehicle is not entirely within the area demarcated as a parking bay; or
  - (c) in a parking bay which is already occupied by another vehicle.

- (3) No person may park a vehicle on a sidewalk or a roadway within a parking ground.
- (4) No person may in a parking ground park a vehicle in a manner which obstructs or inconveniences other users of the parking ground.
- (5) No person may park, or cause, or permit a vehicle other than a vehicle as defined in the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), to be parked or to be or remain in a parking ground.
- (6) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 58. Abandoned vehicle

- (1) The municipality may remove, to the municipality's pound, a vehicle which has been left in the same place in a parking ground for a continuous period of more than seven days.
- (2) The municipality must take all reasonable steps to trace the owner of a vehicle which was removed in terms of subsection (1), and if the owner of the vehicle or the person entitled to possession of the vehicle cannot be found within a period of 90 days after the vehicle has been removed, the municipality may, subject to the provisions of subsection (3), sell the vehicle at a public auction.
- (3) The municipality must, 14 days before the auction contemplated in subsection (2), publish or cause to be published in at least two newspapers circulating within the municipal area, a notice of the auction, however, if the owner or the person entitled to possession of the vehicle claims the vehicle before the auction commences, the vehicle may not be sold at the auction, and the person must pay to the municipality all prescribed fees payable in terms of these by-laws and the applicable costs in terms of subsection (4).
- (4) The proceeds of a sale concluded in terms of this section must be applied first in payment of the fees referred to in subsection (3) and thereafter to defray the following:
  - (a) the costs incurred in endeavouring to trace the owner in terms of subsection (2);
  - (b) the costs of removing the vehicle;
  - (c) the costs of publishing the notice of the auction;
  - (d) the costs of effecting the sale of the vehicle; and
  - (e) the costs, calculated at a rate determined by the municipality, of keeping the vehicle in the pound,

and the balance, if any, of the proceeds must be paid, upon claim, to the owner of the vehicle or the person entitled to the vehicle if he or she can prove his or her right to the vehicle.

- (5) If no claim is established within one year of the date of the sale, the balance of the proceeds contemplated in subsection (4) is forfeited to the municipality.
- (6) No person may leave a vehicle in the same place in a parking ground for a continuous period of more than seven days, and a person who does so commits an offence.

### 59. Damage to notices

- (1) No person may remove, mutilate, obscure or in any manner damage or interfere with a notice, notice-board, sign or other thing placed by the municipality on a parking ground.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 60. Negligent and dangerous driving

- (1) No person may, on a parking ground, drive a vehicle negligently or in a manner dangerous to the public or to another vehicle.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 61. Entering or remaining in parking ground

- (1) No person may enter, remain or be on a parking ground otherwise than for the purpose of parking on the parking ground a vehicle, or lawfully removing from the parking ground a vehicle, in respect of which he or she has paid the prescribed parking fee, however this section does not apply to a person in the company of a person who is parking or removing a vehicle.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 62. Tampering with vehicle

- (1) No person may, on a parking ground, without reasonable cause or without the knowledge or consent of the owner or person in lawful charge of a vehicle, in any way interfere or tamper with the machinery, accessories, parts or contents of the vehicle, or enter or climb upon the vehicle, or set the machinery of the vehicle in motion.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 63. Defacing coupon

- (1) No person may in a parking ground with intent to defraud the municipality forge, imitate, deface, mutilate, alter or make a mark upon a parking coupon issued in terms of these by-laws.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 64. Defective vehicle

- (1) No person may park, or cause, or permit a vehicle which is mechanically defective or for any reason incapable of movement, to be parked or to be or remain in a parking ground.
- (2) If a vehicle, after having been parked in a parking ground, develops a defect which renders it immobile, the person in charge must take all reasonable steps to have the vehicle repaired if minor emergency repairs can be affected, or removed within a reasonable time.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) or subsection (2) commits an offence.

### 65. Cleaning of vehicle

(1) No person may clean or wash a vehicle in a parking ground.

(2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 66. Refusal of admission

- (1) An authorised official may refuse to admit into a parking ground a vehicle which, together with its load, is longer than five metres, or is, by reason of its width or height, likely to cause damage to persons or property, or to cause an obstruction or undue inconvenience.
- (2) A person who disregards an authorised official's refusal of admission commits an offence.

### 67. Parking hours and classes of vehicles

- (1) The municipality may, subject to the provisions of these by-laws, permit the parking on a parking ground during the hours when the parking ground is open for parking of such classes of vehicles as it may determine.
- (2) The municipality must, in a notice posted at the entrance to the parking ground, set out the classes of motor vehicles which may be parked in the parking ground, and the opening and closing hours of the parking ground.
- (3) The municipality may, notwithstanding a notice posted in terms of subsection (2), by notice exhibited on a parking ground, close the parking ground or a portion of a parking ground, either permanently or for a period stated in the notice, for the parking of vehicles.
- (4) No person may park a vehicle or allow a vehicle to remain parked on a parking ground or portion of a parking ground which has been closed under subsection (3), or at any time other than during the hours for the parking of vehicles on the parking ground as determined by the municipality from time to time.
- (5) No person may park on the parking ground a vehicle which is not of the class or classes which may use the parking ground for parking as set out in the notice erected at the entrance to the parking ground.
- (6) No person may, unless he or she is the holder of a parking coupon issued in terms of these by-laws authorising him or her to do so, park a vehicle or cause or permit it to be parked in a parking ground before the beginning or after the expiry of the parking period determined for the parking ground.
- (7) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (4), (5) or (6) commits an offence.

### 68. Reservation by the municipality

- (1) The municipality may, by notice exhibited in the parking ground, reserve a portion of a parking ground for the parking of vehicles owned by the municipality or vehicles used by members of its staff on the business of the municipality.
- (2) A person who parks a vehicle in a portion reserved for the parking of vehicles owned by the municipality or for members of the municipality's staff commits an offence.

### Part 2: Mechanically controlled parking ground

### 69. Parking of a vehicle in a mechanically controlled parking ground

- (1) A person who
  - (a) wishes to park a vehicle;
  - (b) causes or permits a vehicle to be parked; or
  - (c) allows a vehicle to be parked,

in a mechanically controlled parking ground must, when entering the parking ground and after the vehicle has been brought to a standstill and in accordance with the instructions which are displayed on the parking coupon vending machine, obtain a parking coupon which is issued by the machine.

- (2) A person contemplated in subsection (1) may not park a vehicle
  - (a) except in a parking bay and in compliance with such directions as may be given by an authorised official or where no such bay has been marked, except in a place indicated by the authorised official;
  - (b) after an authorised official has indicated to the person that the parking ground is full; or
  - (c) after the expiry of the parking period indicated on the parking coupon.
- (3) A parking coupon obtained in terms of subsection (1) is valid until the time of expiry thereof as indicated on the coupon, and a person may not allow the vehicle to remain in the parking ground after expiry of the parking period.
- (4) A person who does not obtain a coupon in accordance with subsection (1) or who contravenes a provision of subsection (2) or (3) commits an offence.

## 70. Removal of a vehicle from a mechanically controlled parking ground

- (1) No person may remove, or cause or permit the removal of, a vehicle in a parking ground, unless
  - (a) he or she has produced to the authorised official a coupon authorising him or her to park in the parking ground and which was issued to him or her by the parking coupon vending machine upon entering the parking ground; and
  - (b) he or she has paid to the authorised official the prescribed parking fee.
- (2) If a person fails to produce a coupon authorising him or her to park in the mechanically controlled parking ground, he or she is deemed to have parked the vehicle from the beginning of a period that the ground is open for parking until the time he or she wants to remove the vehicle, and he or she shall be charged accordingly.
- (3) A person may not, after he or she fails to produce a coupon, remove, or cause, or permit the removal of a vehicle parked in the parking ground until he or she has produced other proof to an authorised official of his or her right to remove the vehicle, and the authorised official
  - (a) must require the person to complete and sign an indemnity form as supplied by the municipality, which form has the effect of indemnifying the municipality against claims of whatever nature by a person relating to the removal of that vehicle; and

- (b) may require the person to furnish such security as may be determined by the municipality.
- (4) Subsection (1)(a) does not apply where the prescribed parking fees were paid upon entering the parking ground and the person who paid such fees produces the required coupon to the authorised official on demand.
- (5) Where a vehicle has not been removed from a parking ground by the end of the parking period for which the prescribed fee has been paid, a further charge as may be determined by the municipality is payable for the next parking period.
- (6) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1), or who removes, or causes, or permits the removal of a vehicle in contravention of subsection (3), or who does not comply with a request made by an authorised official in terms of subsection (3)(a) or (b) commits an offence.

### Part 3: Pay-and-display parking ground

### 71. Parking of a vehicle in a pay-and-display parking ground

- (1) A person who
  - (a) wishes to park a vehicle;
  - (b) causes or permits a vehicle to be parked; or
  - (c) allows a vehicle to be parked,

in a pay-and-display parking ground must immediately, upon entering the parking ground, buy, in accordance with the instructions which are displayed on or in the vicinity of the parking coupon vending machine in the parking ground, a coupon which is issued by the machine, and a person who does not comply with this subsection commits an offence.

- (2) The following must be indicated on the parking coupon vending machine:
  - (a) the period during which a vehicle may be parked in the pay-and-display parking ground; and
  - (b) the coin or other prescribed object to be inserted in respect of the parking period into the pay and display machine.
- (3) The person must display the coupon by affixing it to the inside on the driver's side of the front windscreen of the vehicle in such a manner and place that the information printed on the coupon by the pay-and-display machine is readily legible from the outside of the vehicle.
- (4) No person may allow a vehicle to remain in a pay-and-display parking ground after the expiry of the departure time indicated on the parking coupon and, unless evidence the contrary is produced, the date or day and time of departure as recorded by a parking coupon vending machine is taken, on the face of it, to be correct evidence of date or day and time.
- (5) No person may park a vehicle, cause, permit, or allow a vehicle to be parked in a pay-and-display parking ground if a parking coupon cannot be obtained from the parking coupon vending machine in the manner indicated thereon or when a notice displayed on the machine indicates that it is out of order.

- (6) If a vehicle is removed from a pay-and-display parking ground and returned to the pay-and-display parking ground within the period of validity of the parking coupon, the coupon continues to be valid.
- (7) Possession of a valid parking coupon in respect of a vehicle not within a parking bay does not guarantee the availability of a vacant parking bay.
- (8) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (3), (4) or (5) commits an offence.

# 72. Miscellaneous offences in respect of a pay-and-display parking ground A person commits an offence if he or she –

- (a) inserts or attempts to insert into a parking coupon vending machine
  - (i) a counterfeit coin;
  - (ii) where another kind of object is to be used, a false object;
  - (iii) a coin which is not South African currency; or
  - (iv) any object which is not meant to be inserted into the parking coupon vending machine;
- (b) jerks, knocks, shakes or in any way interferes or tampers with, or damages, or defaces a parking coupon vending machine or appurtenance thereto, or affix or attempt to affix or place a sign, placard, advertisement, notice, list, document, board or thing on, or paint, write upon or disfigure a parking coupon vending machine; or
- (c) removes or attempts to remove a parking coupon vending machine or any part of the machine from its mounting.

#### **CHAPTER 4: PARKING ATTENDANTS**

#### 73. Prohibition

- (1) No person may act as, operate as or falsely hold himself or herself out to be a parking attendant on any public road or in any public place of the municipality
  - (a) if he or she is not registered as a security officer in terms of the Private Security Industry Regulation Act, 2001 (Act 56 of 2001); and
  - (b) without the written permission of the municipality.
- (2) No organisation may organise the guarding of vehicles in public places or on public roads of the municipality through parking attendants without being registered as a security service provider in terms of the Private Security Industry Regulation Act, 2001 (Act 56 of 2001) and unless registered by the municipality as a parking attendant organization.
- (3) No person or organisation may act as, operate or organise the guarding of vehicles in public places or on public roads of the municipality through parking attendants in an area which is the subject of a Memorandum of Agreement between the municipality and a service provider for the provision of a parking management system.

### 74. Registration of person or organisation by the municipality

- (1) Before any organization can be registered with the municipality, the organization must submit, together with its application for registration on a form supplied by the municipality, proof of indemnity or of public liability insurance regarding the actions of its parking attendants.
- (2) The municipality shall consider each application for registration and may register a person or an organisation or refuse to register a person or an organisation.
- (3) The municipality, on receipt of an application for registration, may call for documentary or other proof of the capacity of the organization to provide parking attendants, including information regarding the finances of the organization.
- (4) When approving a person or an organization's application for registration regarding a specified geographic area, the municipality must issue a permit prescribing the geographic areas within which the organization may operate and the period of time for which it is granted, and the permit issued is valid for a period not exceeding 12 months from the date of issue.

#### 75. Conditions

- (1) Subject to the provisions of section 76 all persons and organizations must adopt and sign the Code of Conduct for Parking Attendants as supplied by the municipality.
- (2) A person or an organization must keep detailed attendance and duty records reflecting the following in respect of him or herself or of its parking attendants:
  - (a) name of parking attendant;
  - (b) time at which the parking attendant goes on and off duty;
  - (c) place of assignment of the parking attendant; and
  - (d) incidents and occurrences.

## 76. Registration fee payable

The municipality may levy a registration tariff, the amount of which is determined by municipality and fixed in the registration, as a requirement for the registration of parking attendants, provided that where a Memorandum of Agreement exists between the municipality and a service provider for the provision of a parking management system, such a tariff will not be levied.

### 77. Garments and identification of parking attendants

- (1) Upon registration and subject to the payment of a registration tariff, the municipality will issue to the parking attendants:
  - (a) A bib or jacket; and
  - (b) an identification card,

and a parking attendant must, before undertaking any duties, equip himself or herself with the such bib or jacket and identification card.

(2) Every parking attendant must, while on duty and presenting himself or herself as available for service, be neatly dressed in a bib or jacket, and must ensure that the identification card is visibly displayed.

### 78. Conduct of organisations

- (1) An organization must
  - (a) register with the municipality;
  - (b) train parking attendants;
  - (c) supervise its parking attendants, preferably by means of direct radio contact with the organization's control office;
  - (d) ensure that bibs or jackets and identification cards are in a good condition;
  - (e) resolve all parking disputes or differences that may arise in the assigned areas of the parking attendants;
  - (f) instruct all parking attendants under contract to comply with the Policies and Code of Conduct;
  - (g) ensure that the organization's officials make themselves available to attend meetings with the municipality as when requested to do; and
  - (h) establish a liaison forum with the SAPS and the Safety and Security Business Unit.
- (2) No organization may permit a person who has his or her permit cancelled or suspended to act as a parking attendant.

### 79. Conduct of parking attendants

- (1) No parking attendant may, when on duty:
  - (a) tamper with, activate or operate a parking meter;
  - (b) wash, or clean, or offer to wash or clean a car on a public road or in a public place;
  - (c) interfere with the movement of traffic or pedestrians;
  - (d) demand a donation or fee for guarding a driver's vehicle;
  - (e) fail to obey a lawful order from an authorized officer or an authorized official;
  - (f) harass or threaten a driver, or damage a vehicle in any way;
  - (g) involve himself or herself in any form of criminal activity;
  - (h) be under the influence of alcohol, or any narcotic substance, or consume, or use any alcohol or narcotic substance;
  - (i) be untidily dressed;
  - (j) refuse to produce proof of his or her identity when requested to do so by an authorised officer or authorised official of a person who requires it for his or her information relating to the service rendered;
  - (k) behave abusively towards a member of the public;
  - (l) insert money into a parking meter; or
  - (m) inform or threaten the driver or person in charge of a motor vehicle that such vehicle will or may be damaged or stolen unless it is left in his care or under his supervision or unless that parking attendant is remunerated for his services
  - (n) act as a parking attendant or hold himself or herself out to be available to act as a parking attendant at any place other than the place allocated to him or her in writing by a registered organization and in accordance with the provision of this by-law.

(2) No parking attendant may refuse to subject himself or herself to a security check as prescribed by the Private Security Industry Regulation Act, Act 56 of 2001.

### 80. Cancellation or suspension of registration

- (1) The municipality may suspend registration on the grounds that a person or organization has allegedly committed an offence in terms if this by-law.
- (2) The municipality may instruct an organization to immediately suspend the services of a parking attendant, or the municipality may suspend the services of a parking attendant who does not belong to an organization, who:
  - (a) tampers with, or activates, or operates a parking meter;
  - (b) fails to observe or carry out the lawful instructions of an authorised person or an authorised officer;
  - (c) is intoxicated while performing his or her duties as parking attendant;
  - (d) cleans or washes any motor vehicle on a public road or in a public place;
  - (e) offers to clean or wash any motor vehicle on a public road or in a public place;
  - (f) interferes with the movement of vehicular traffic or the parking or vehicles;
  - (g) interferes with the movement of pedestrians;
  - (h) through intimidation, demands a donation or fee for guarding a vehicle;
  - (i) damages or threatens to damage a vehicle in any way for not receiving a donation or fee; or
  - (j) fails to produce the permit or an identification card on request.
  - (k) behaves abusively towards a member of the public;
  - (l) inserts money into a parking meter; or
  - (m) informs or threatens the driver or person in charge of a motor vehicle that such vehicle will or may be damaged or stolen unless it is left in his or her care or under his or her supervision or unless that parking attendant is remunerated for his or her services

## 81. Vicarious responsibility and liability of organization

When a person who is a member of an organization acts illegally as a parking attendant or commits any other offence in terms of this Chapter, the directors of that organization are equally responsible and liable for the offence.

#### **CHAPTER 5: TAXIS AND BUSES**

### Part 1: Special parking places for taxis, permits and decals

## 82. Establishment of, and taxi rank permits for, special parking places for taxis

(1) The municipality, acting in terms of section 53 of the Passenger Transportation (Interim Provisions) Act, 1999 (EC) (Act 11 of 1999), may establish special parking places in the municipality for use by or the parking of a taxi belonging to a person to

whom a permit to use the parking place or park a taxi rank permit has been issued by the municipality as provided for in section 84.

- (2) A taxi rank permit may be issued allocating a particular special parking place or subdivision of a special parking place to a particular person or motor vehicle for his, her or its exclusive use.
- (3) If no space is available in a special parking place at any particular time for the parking of a taxi by a taxi rank permit holder or for a taxi to which the taxi rank permit relates, the taxi must be parked at a holding area specified by a duly appointed marshal operating at the special parking place, as contemplated in section 103, until the marshal or any other duly appointed person summons and permits the person to park the taxi at the special parking place.
- (4) No person or motor vehicle other than the person or motor vehicle referred to in subsection (2) may, except by virtue of a taxi rank permit, use or be parked at the special parking place or its subdivision, and a person who contravenes this provision, or a person who parks a motor vehicle at a holding area other than the one contemplated in subsection (3) commits an offence.

### 83. Application for a taxi rank permit

- (1) An application for the granting of a taxi rank permit referred to in section 82 must be lodged with the municipality on the particular form obtainable from the municipality and must be accompanied by the fee contemplated in section 82(4).
- (2) The applicant must answer all questions in the application form and in all other respects fully comply with all the requirements of the form.
- (3) The municipality may refuse a taxi rank permit, subject to Section 84(6) of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996), and the provisions of this by-law, on the grounds that there is insufficient ranking space in the municipal area.
- (4) A person who knowingly supplies incorrect information in the form contemplated in subsection (2) commits an offence.

## 84. Issuing of a taxi rank permit

- (1) Where an application for a taxi rank permit is granted, the taxi rank permit must, subject to subsections (2) and (3), be issued in a form determined by the municipality provided that the prescribed fee contemplated in section 83(1) had been paid.
- (2) The municipality shall not issue a taxi rank permit until the applicant provides the municipality with
  - (a) a valid Certificate of Road Worthiness in respect of the motor vehicle concerned as required in terms of Regulation 138 of the Regulations in terms of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);
  - (b) a valid public road carrier permit issued under the Road Transportation Act, 1977 (Act 74 of 1977), authorizing the road transportation to be undertaken;
  - (c) proof of registration and licensing of the motor vehicle concerned in terms of Section 14 of the National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act 93 of 1996);

- (d) a valid identification document or a valid temporary identity document issued by the Department of Home Affairs, of the owner or the operator thereof, however, in the event of a temporary identification document, it must be accompanied with a passport photo of the owner or the operator thereof; and
- (e) a letter of recommendation from the relevant taxi association.
- (3) Such taxi rank permit shall be issued in terms of the conditions determined by the municipality.
- (4) The municipality may determine the fees for the issue of a taxi rank permit and such fees may be different for different facilities.
- (5) A taxi rank permit not collected within three months lapses, unless a written extension of time has been requested and granted by the municipality.
- (6) Any taxi rank permit issued contrary to the provisions of this by-law in an unlawful manner with or without the knowledge of the applicant, is void and the holder thereof must on demand by the municipality forthwith deliver such taxi rank permit to the municipality.
- (7) The municipality is not obliged to issue a taxi rank permit, even if the applicant has a valid operating licence or public road carrier permit.
- (8) No taxi rank permit will be issued unless the provisions of this section have been complied with.
- (9) A person who issues a taxi rank permit in a manner contemplated in subsection (6) commits an offence.

### 85. Renewing of a taxi rank permit

- (1) A taxi rank permit is valid for one year from the date of issue and must be renewed annually.
- (2) An application for the renewal of a taxi rank permit must be made before the taxi rank permit expires.
- (3) After a person applying to renew a taxi rank permit has submitted a duly completed application form to the municipality, together with the documents referred to in section 84(2) in respect of the motor vehicle, the taxi rank permit shall be renewed on payment of the prescribed fee, and subject to the good conduct of the person.
- (4) A person who knowingly supplies incorrect information in the form contemplated in subsection (3) commits an offence.

## 86. Temporary substitution of a taxi rank permit

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), a taxi rank permit issued in terms of section 84 for a motor vehicle does not authorise the taxi rank permit holder to park any other motor vehicle as a taxi under that taxi rank permit.
- (2) If the taxi to which a taxi rank permit relates has become defective or has been temporarily withdrawn from service owing to an accident, the taxi rank permit holder may substitute any other vehicle of the same passenger-carrying capamunicipality for that taxi for a maximum period of seven days, on condition that, whenever such other vehicle uses the taxi facilities, the taxi rank permit holder must ensure that —

- (a) the taxi rank permit relating to the defective taxi is always kept in such other vehicle; and
- (b) a decal is always displayed on the other vehicle as required by section 88(3).
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (2) commits an offence.

### 87. Transfer of a taxi rank permit

- (1) If -
  - (a) the taxi rank permit holder dies;
  - (b) the taxi rank permit holder's estate is provisionally or finally sequestrated;
  - (c) the taxi rank permit holder is a company or a close corporation which is being liquidated; or
  - (d) the taxi rank permit holder becomes in any way incapable in law of carrying on business,

the executor, trustee, liquidator or curator of property, as the case may be, may, on payment of the prescribed transfer fee, carry on the business undertaking for the unexpired period of the taxi rank permit.

(2) No taxi rank permit may, subject to subsection (1), be transferred by the taxi rank permit holder to another person, and a taxi rank permit holder who does so commits an offence.

### 88. Issue, display and duplication of decals

- (1) A decal containing the particulars of the taxi rank permit is issued with every taxi rank permit, and must immediately be affixed to the taxi concerned as contemplated in subsection (3).
- (2) (a) A taxi rank permit holder may apply to use additional taxi facilities.
  - (b) An additional decal or more decals may be issued to the taxi rank permit holder to identify additional taxi facilities allocated to that taxi rank permit holder.
- (3) On obtaining a decal or decals in terms of subsection (1) or (2), the taxi rank permit holder must immediately
  - (a) where the taxi concerned is fitted with a clear windscreen, affix the decal in a conspicuous place on the left-hand front inside of the windscreen in an upright position, with the printed side facing to the front in such a way that the particulars on the decal are clearly legible to any person standing on the left front side of the taxi; and
  - (b) where the taxi is fitted with a tinted or smoked glass windscreen, display the decal in a watertight holder in a conspicuous place on the left-hand front outside of the windscreen in such a way that the particulars on the decal are clearly legible to any person standing on the left front side of the taxi.
- (4) The taxi rank permit holder must ensure that the decal or decals are kept displayed at all relevant times as contemplated in subsection (3).
- (5) (a) If a taxi rank permit holder –

- (i) satisfies the municipality by affidavit that the taxi rank permit or a decal has been lost or destroyed; or
- (ii) produces a taxi rank permit or decal that has been damaged to the extent that the letters and figures on it are no longer clearly legible, the municipality must, after the taxi rank permit holder has applied for a duplicate permit or decal on a form and has paid the prescribed fee, issue him or her with a duplicate that is clearly endorsed 'DUPLICATE'.
- (b) The taxi rank permit holder must immediately affix the duplicate decal to the vehicle concerned in accordance with subsection (3).
- (6) If a taxi is being operated without a decal, it is presumed that the taxi rank permit holder does not have a valid taxi rank permit until he or she proves to an authorised officer that he or she does have such a taxi rank permit or has applied for a duplicate decal.
- (7) A person commits an offence if he or she
  - (a) unless he or she is authorised to do so, produces or duplicates a taxi rank permit or decal;
  - (b) affixes an unauthorised decal onto a taxi;
  - (c) operates a taxi on which a decal is in any way concealed, or obscured, or has become illegible, unless such concealment, obscurity or illegibility is temporary owing to a cause beyond the control of the person who operates the taxi; or
  - (d) contravenes subsection (4).

## 89. Payment of a taxi rank permit fees

- (1) The taxi rank permit fee payable for a taxi rank permit issued for less than one full year is reduced *pro rata* to the number of months out of 12 months of the taxi rank permit's validity.
- (2) All taxi rank permit fees and moneys must be paid at the relevant municipal office as determined by the municipality.
- (3) (a) The payment of any amount in terms of these by-laws does not absolve a person from criminal liability arising from his or her failure to obtain a taxi rank permit.
  - (b) The conviction of a person for an offence under these by-laws does not relieve him or her of the liability to pay the fees in terms of these by-laws.

## 90. Amendment of particulars of a taxi rank permit

- (1) If the information contained in a taxi rank permit or decal is incorrect, the municipality may, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these by-laws
  - (a) notify the taxi rank permit holder concerned;
  - (b) require him or her to give a satisfactory explanation; and
  - (c) require him or her to return the taxi rank permit or decal for amendment not later than ten days after the date of notification.

- (2) If it comes to the notice of the taxi rank permit holder that the particulars on a taxi rank permit or decal are incorrect because they have changed or are incorrect for any other reason, the taxi rank permit holder must submit the taxi rank permit or decal to the municipality for amendment within ten days of this coming to his or her notice, however, a taxi rank permit holder may not, subject to subsection (3), substitute a different motor vehicle for the motor vehicle to which the taxi rank permit relates.
- (3) When a taxi rank permit or decal is surrendered for it to be amended in terms of this section, the municipality shall provide the taxi rank permit holder with a temporary taxi rank permit or decal, which is valid until the amended taxi rank permit or decal is returned to the taxi rank permit holder.
- (4) A person who contravenes subsection (1)(c) or (2) commits an offence.

### 91. Outstanding payments

All outstanding payments must be paid before a taxi rank permit is issued.

### 92. A taxi rank permit for partnership

- (1) A taxi rank permit issued to a partnership must specify the full name of each of the partners and the type of business that is being carried on.
- (2) If a member of a partnership ceases to be a partner for any reason whatsoever during the year for which the taxi rank permit is valid, the remaining partner or partners may, on submitting proof that a new partnership has come into existence and on payment of the prescribed transfer fee, carry on the business or undertaking for the unexpired period of the taxi rank permit.
- (3) A partner contemplated in subsection (2) who does not submit proof, commits an offence.

## 93. A taxi rank permit to be produced on demand

- (1) The holder of a taxi rank permit in terms of this by-law must:
  - (a) maintain such taxi rank permit in a good and legible condition; and
  - (b) keep it in the motor vehicle to which it relates at all relevant times when such vehicle is being operated as a taxi.
- (2) Any authorised official of the municipality may call upon the driver of any taxi to stop and may demand from him
  - (a) to produce the taxi rank permit required under the provisions of this bylaw; and
  - (b) to supply his full name and address and also the name and address of the owner or operator of such taxi.
- (3) No driver referred to in subsection (2) may, when called upon to do so by any authorised officer
  - (a) refuse to stop;
  - (b) refuse to supply his or her full name and address;
  - (c) refuse to supply the correct name and address of the owner or operator of the vehicle in his or her charge;
  - (d) refuse to produce a taxi rank permit; or

- (e) give a false name or address.
- (4) A person who contravenes subsection (1) or (3) or who fails to supply the information contemplated in subsection (2) commits an offence.

### 94. Suspension or withdrawal of a taxi rank permit

- (1) Where the owner, taxi rank permit holder or person in charge of a taxi has been found guilty of contravening these by-laws, and irrespective of whether any other penalty by a court of law has been imposed, the municipality may, subject to the provisions of section 95 and after all the circumstances of the case have been taken into consideration, act in terms of subsection (2).
- (2) The municipality may, after taking all the circumstances of the case into consideration, suspend the taxi rank permit for a taxi for a period or withdraw the taxi rank permit if
  - (a) the owner of the taxi does not
    - (i) comply with an instruction issued in terms of these by-laws; or
    - (ii) maintain the taxi at all times in a clean state and in sound running condition and repair; or
  - (b) an authorised officer inspects the taxi and finds that the taxi -
    - (i) is constructed in such a way or is in such a condition that the taxi is unsafe for the number of passengers that it is authorised to carry; or
    - (ii) does not comply with the conditions specified in these by-laws or the Act or regulations.
- (3) No person may use a vehicle as a taxi at a taxi facility or allow one to be used as a taxi at a taxi facility if the vehicle's taxi rank permit has been suspended or withdrawn.
- (4) A person who contravenes subsection (3) commits an offence.

## 95. Procedure for proposed suspension or withdrawal of a taxi rank permit

- (1) A taxi rank permit may not be suspended or withdrawn unless:
  - (a) the municipality has given the taxi rank permit holder and any taxi association of which the taxi rank permit holder is a member, at least 14 days written notice by certified mail of the municipality's intention to suspend or withdraw the taxi rank permit, and such a notice must give
    - (i) the reasons for the proposed action and an adequate statement setting out the nature of the action;
    - (ii) the gist of the matter which could be prejudicial to the taxi rank permit holder, together with an invitation to make representation on the matter;
    - (iii) an address for the submission of a representation as contemplated in subsection (2); and
    - (iv) the date, time and place of a hearing, which may not be less than 28 days from the date of the notice, to consider the suspension or withdrawal, and an indication that the taxi rank permit holder may submit representations and appear at the hearing; and

- (b) the taxi rank permit holder is given an opportunity to, either personally or through his or her duly authorised representative, appear at a hearing and to make representations, before the municipality or a committee of the municipality.
- (2) If a taxi rank permit holder who has received a notice referred to in subsection (1) wishes to appear and to oppose the proposed action, he or she must, within 14 days of receiving the notice or within a further period that the municipality may allow, submit representations in writing by hand or by certified mail to the address indicated in the notice.
- (3) After the hearing referred to in subsection (1), the municipality must give a ruling on whether or not to suspend or withdraw the taxi rank permit and must give the taxi rank permit holder its reasons for the ruling in writing not later than 14 days after the date of the conclusion of the hearing.
- (4) A record of the proceedings at the hearing referred to in subsection (1) must include -
  - (a) the evidence given, if any;
  - (b) any objection made to any evidence received or submitted; and
  - (c) the ruling given at the hearing.

### 96. Change of address

- (1) The holder of a taxi rank permit must give notice to the municipality in writing of any change of address within 14 working days thereof by pre-paid registered post, telefax or hand delivery.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 97. Amendment of the particulars on a taxi rank permit

- (1) If the particulars reflected on a taxi rank permit are incorrect by virtue of a change in such particulars or for any other reason, the holder of such taxi rank permit must submit the taxi rank permit to the municipality for the amendment thereof.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

### Part 2: Taxi associations, taxi forums, and taxi facilities

#### 98. Taxi forums

- (1) The municipality may establish a taxi forum to make recommendations to it on matters relevant to the taxi industry in general.
- (2) A taxi association may become a member of the taxi forum.

#### 99. Classes of taxi facilities

The municipality may designate any taxi facility in the municipality as -

- (a) a special parking place, such as a taxi rank or a stand;
- (b) a taxi stopping place; or
- (c) a taxi holding area.

### 100. Taxi parking

- (1) A driver may, subject to subsection (2)
  - (a) park a taxi at a special parking place or taxi holding area only; or
  - (b) ply for hire, or pick up or drop off passengers only at a special parking place or a taxi stopping place provided.
- (2) In emergencies or at recreational and other similar functions, the municipality may set aside temporary taxi facilities identified by the Municipality as suitable for the parking and stopping of taxis.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1), or who parks or stops a taxi at a place other than a temporary taxi facility contemplated in subsection (2) commits an offence.

#### 101. Use of taxi ranks

- (1) A driver
  - (a) may, subject to subsection (3), park a taxi at the taxi rank specified on the taxi permit concerned, if space is available; and
  - (b) must, if no space is available, remove and park the taxi at a holding area in accordance with the provisions of section 82.
- (2) The driver must, when plying for hire at a taxi rank, do so in a queue and must
  - (a) position his or her taxi in the first vacant place available in the queue immediately behind any other taxi already in front; and
  - (b) move his or her taxi forward as the queue moves forward.
- (3) When plying for hire at a taxi rank, a driver
  - (a) of any taxi which occupies the first, second or third position from the front of any queue at a rank must be in close and constant attendance of his or her taxi so long as it remains in such a position;
  - (b) may not position his or her taxi ahead of any taxi that arrived and took up a position in the queue before he or she did; and
  - (c) may, if his or her taxi is the first taxi in the queue, and any person calls for a taxi, respond to the call, unless the person clearly indicates his or her preference for a taxi not in front of the queue.
- (4) No person may park or stop a taxi which is not in good working order as required by the Act or the regulations, in a taxi rank, or cause or permit the taxi to remain in a rank.
- (5) No person may park or stop any vehicle in a taxi rank except a taxi for which a taxi permit and decal, specifying the rank, have been issued for the year in question, as contemplated in Part 1 to this Chapter.
- (6) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

## 102. Prohibition on parking of a taxi at stopping place

No taxi driver may park a taxi at a stopping place, and a taxi driver who does so, commits an offence.

### 103. Regulation and control of taxi facilities

- (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), a recognised taxi association may appoint marshals at taxi facilities to perform the duties set out in subsections (4) and (5), however, if a taxi facility or a portion of it has been allocated exclusively to a particular taxi association, only that association may appoint marshals in respect of that particular taxi facility or portion of it.
- (2) In the case of a dispute about which taxi association is entitled to appoint a marshal or marshals at a particular taxi facility, the taxi forum must decide on the issue.
- (3) The duties of a marshal regarding passengers are:
  - (a) to regulate the queuing of passengers according to the appropriate priority and route destination systems;
  - (b) to ensure the orderly loading of passengers into appropriate vehicles;
  - (c) to control the appropriate number of passengers per vehicle to prevent overloading and to ensure a higher level of service to passengers and equal opportunities for drivers;
  - (d) to direct passengers and to provide information about the activities of the taxis operating at that facility or other taxi facilities; and
  - (e) to inform drivers about expected passenger demand and any other related matters.
- (4) The duties of a marshal regarding taxis are
  - (a) to control the arrival of taxis at taxi facilities and specifically at loading areas in accordance with the provisions of sections 82 and 101;
  - (b) to allow only taxi permit holders in respect of taxi facilities in and out of the facilities;
  - (c) to coordinate the movement of taxis between loading and holding areas;
  - (d) to control taxi departures according to loading patterns; and
  - (e) to direct taxis to a holding area and to redirect them to a rank.
- (6) The municipality may, after consultation with the taxi forum, lay down a code of conduct for marshals at taxi facilities and amend the code from time to time.
- (7) No person may act as a marshal at a taxi facility unless the taxi association concerned has appointed him or her in writing.
- (8) A person who contravenes subsection (7) commits an offence.

### 104. Servicing and washing taxis at taxi facilities

- (1) No person may repair or maintain any motor vehicle in any way whatsoever at a taxi facility.
- (2) No person may wash any motor vehicle at a taxi facility, except at a wash bay at the facility that has been specially constructed for this purpose.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

### Part 3: General use and operation of taxis

## 105. Preventing engagement of a taxi

(1) No person may, by using force, intimidation, threats or by any other means, prevent or try to prevent –

- (a) any person from obtaining or engaging a taxi; or
- (b) the driver of a taxi from taking on passengers.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 106. Conveying dangerous or offensive articles in taxis

- (1) A person who is in charge of any person or thing may not knowingly convey that other person or thing or allow that other person or thing to be conveyed in a taxi, whether or not the taxi has been engaged, if that other person or thing
  - (a) is not permitted to be conveyed in terms of an existing law; or
  - (b) has obviously been exposed to or contaminated by an infectious or contagious disease as contemplated in the Act or the regulations.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

# 107. Disinfecting a taxi after conveying passengers with infectious or contagious diseases

- (1) The owner, driver or person in charge of a taxi must take immediate steps to have the taxi disinfected as soon as it has come to his or her knowledge that there has been conveyed in the taxi
  - (a) a passenger suffering from an obvious infectious or contagious disease;
  - (b) the body of a person who has died of an obvious infectious or contagious disease; or
  - (c) anything that has been exposed to or contaminated with the infection of an obvious infectious or contagious disease.
- (2) The owner, driver or other person in charge of the taxi may not convey any passengers in the taxi until the taxi has been disinfected.
- (3) The owner, driver or other person in charge of a taxi must notify, and carry out all instructions of a municipal official with regard to the disinfection of a taxi referred to in subsection (1).
- (4) No person suffering from a contagious disease may enter any taxi.
- (5) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

## 108. Boarding and alighting of taxis

- (1) No person may board a taxi until all persons desiring to alight from the taxi have done so.
- (2) No person may insist on boarding a taxi which contains the total number of passengers which it is authorized to carry.
- (3) No person may board or alight or attempt to board or alight from any taxi whilst the taxi is in motion.
- (4) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 109. Queues at facilities

(1) At any established taxi rank facility, the municipality may erect or cause to be erected a queue sign that consists of a notice board indicating the location and the manner in which persons waiting to enter a taxi will stop and form a queue, and such a

sign may be supplemented by queuing barriers in the form of rails or lines marked on the surface of the area to be demarcated for the purpose of queuing.

- (2) All passengers intending to enter any taxi at an established ranking facility or stopping place must queue from the point at which it is indicated that such vehicle will leave.
- (3) Where no queue sign has been erected, passengers waiting to enter a taxi, must form themselves into a queue not exceeding two abreast, or in a single file when required to so by an approved taxi marshal or authorised official of the municipality.
- (4) A passenger may only enter a taxi when he or she gets to the front of the queue.
- (5) Every passenger queuing must comply with all the instructions given by an approved taxi marshal, authorised officer or authorised official when on duty.
- (6) A person who contravenes subsection (2), (3), (4) or (5) commits an offence.

### 110. Payment of fares

- (1) A passenger must pay the determined fare for the journey on request.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 111. Rights and duties of passengers when a taxi becomes defective

- (1) If a taxi becomes defective or, for any reason whatsoever, is unable to proceed, the passengers must, at the request of the driver, alight from the defective taxi and should the passengers have already paid their fares, they are entitled to a refund to the amount of their fares so paid.
- (2) Upon agreement with the driver of the defective taxi, passengers are allowed to travel with the next available taxi for the remainder of the distance in respect of there paid fares, at the cost of the defective taxi's owner.
- (3) A driver who refuses to refund a passenger, as contemplated in subsection (1), or who refuses to allow a passager to travel in the manner as contemplated in subsection (2) commits an offence.

#### 112. Animals

- (1) No passenger may enter a taxi with any animals other than a guide dog assisting a blind person.
- (2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 113. Actions prohibited on a taxi

- (1) The following actions are prohibited on a taxi:
  - (a) smoking;
  - (b) playing offensive or excessively loud music;
  - (c) using obscene or offensive language;
  - (d) committing an offensive act;
  - (e) interfering with the comfort of any passenger;
  - (f) damaging any taxi or the fittings thereof;
  - (g) interfering with the equipment of the taxi in any way;
  - (h) forcibly causing the driver to deviate from his route;

- (i) endangering the life of another person; and
- (j) interfering with the actions of the driver.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence and shall, in addition to incurring the penalty provided for in this by-law, forfeit his or her fare and be removed from the taxi immediately.

### 114. Behaviour prohibited at a taxi rank

A person who causes a disturbance or behaves in a riotous or indecent manner commits an offence in terms of this by-law and may be removed from a queue, taxi rank or the vicinity of a taxi facility by any authorised officer or authorised official of the municipality.

#### Part 4: Metered taxis

### 115 Taximeters and display of identification

- (1) No person operating a motor vehicle contemplated in paragraph (b) of the definition of "taxi" shall be issued with a taxi permit, contemplated in section 82, for a metered taxi unless and until a taximeter has been fitted to the vehicle.
- (2) No taximeter may be used until it has been tested and sealed by an examiner of vehicles.
- (3) No person may operate a metered taxi or allow one to be operated unless it is fitted with a tested and sealed taximeter that is in working order.
- (4) No person may seal a taximeter unless it registers a fare in accordance with the tariff published by the municipality.
- (5) The use of a separate indicator to indicate to the passenger the charge for extras is permitted on condition that this indicator is part of the taximeter.
- (6) No person may operate a metered taxi unless the taxi permit contemplated in subsection (1) is visibly displayed together with the operator's coloured photograph and printed initials, surname and identity number on laminated paper with dimensions of not less than 140mm X 200mm.
- (7) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 116. Metered fares

- (1) The fares to be charged in respect of metered taxis must be in accordance with the tariff published by the municipality.
- (2) No driver of a metered taxi may charge, demand or attempt to obtain from a passenger a fare lower or higher that the tariff published by the municipality.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

## 117. Tariffs to be displayed on taxis

- (1) The driver of a metered taxi must affix a sign on the left front door of the taxi so that the tariffs are plainly visible to the passenger, and this sign must show in legible characters
  - (a) the appropriate tariff of fares;

- (b) the number of passengers the metered taxi is permitted to carry;
- (c) the registration number of the metered taxi; and
- (d) the relevant portion of the taxi permit (decal) reference number.
- (2) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### 118. Position of meter

- (1) The taximeter must be
  - (a) fitted on the inside of the taxi in such a position that the recorded fare is plainly visible at all times by a passenger occupying the rear seat; and
  - (b) illuminated after dark.
- (2) The driver of a metered taxi who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 119. Operation of meter

- (1) Except as provided for in sections 120 and 121, the taximeter must be operated electronically or mechanically either solely from the gearbox or left front wheel of the taxi or from another portion of the mechanism of the taxi that the municipality may approve.
- (2) The driver of a metered taxi must ensure that the taximeter correctly indicates to the passenger the fare that may be charged by the driver in accordance with the tariff published by the municipality.
- (3) The driver of a metered taxi who operates a taxi, the taximeter of which does not comply with subsection (1), or who contravenes subsection (2) commits an offence.

#### 120. Meter indicators

- (1) The owner of a metered taxi must ensure that
  - (a) the taximeter has an indicator which -
    - (i) is incorporated in the taximeter or attached to it;
    - (ii) has the words "For hire" on it when the taxi is available for hire; and
    - (iii) may be hand-operated;
  - (b) the indicator of a taximeter has a
    - (i) "Pay" or "For hire" position, denoting that the taximeter is not in operation;
    - (ii) "Hired" or recording position, denoting the recording by the taximeter of the fare by a combination of time and distance; and
    - (iii) "Time not recording" position or light, denoting that the clock mechanism is not recording.
- (2) An owner of a metered taxi who does not comply with a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 121. Starting of meter

(1) The driver of a metered taxi must –

- (a) on arrival at the passenger's departure point, and not sooner, start the taximeter in the "Hired" position and, on termination of the hiring, immediately stop the taximeter from recording; and
- (b) stop the taximeter from recording for the duration of a stoppage if the stoppage is not caused by traffic congestion, or by the action of the passenger, or at the request of the passenger.
- (2) A driver who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 122. Taxi called but not engaged

- (1) A person who calls for or summons a metered taxi and who, on its arrival, fails to engage it, must pay the fare at the tariff published by the municipality for the distance from the stand, rank or place from which the metered taxi had been despatched to the place to which the person had called or summoned the metered taxi.
- (2) If a metered taxi is kept waiting through no fault of the driver before the driver is told that the taxi's services are not required, the person who called for or summoned the taxi must, in addition to the normal fare, pay the driver waiting at the tariff published by the municipality.
- (3) A person who does not pay the driver as contemplated in subsection (1) and (2) commits an offence.

### 123. Meter seals to be kept intact

- (1) The owner of a metered taxi must, at all times, keep intact and undamaged all seals that were affixed to a taximeter by an examiner of vehicles or an approved organisation.
- (2) If the seal or seals of a taximeter are accidentally broken or defaced, the driver of the taxi must immediately, before the taxi is used as a passenger-carrying vehicle, apply to the Municipality or an organisation approved by the municipality to replace or renew the seal or seals.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### 124. Meter tolerances

The tolerance to be allowed on all taximeters when tested is as follows:

- (a) Road Test: No tolerance in deficiency or over-registration is allowed, but if the vehicle's tyres are obviously worn, a tolerance in deficiency of 10 meters per kilometre and a tolerance in excess of 50 meters per kilometre are allowed.
- (b) Time Test: A tolerance in deficiency of one second per minute and a tolerance in excess of two seconds per minute are allowed.

#### 125. Interference with meter prohibited

(1) No person may, so as to cause the taximeter to register anything other than the true fare chargeable by the driver in accordance with the tariffs published by the municipality –

- (a) destroy, break or tamper with the seal affixed to a taximeter by the examiner of vehicles or by an organisation approved by the municipality; or
- (b) adjust or interfere or tamper with a taximeter or a connection of a taximeter, or any tyre or fitting of a taxi.
- (2) No driver or owner of a taxi may allow the taxi to be used as a passenger-carrying vehicle if
  - (a) the taximeter affixed to it does not register the true fare; or
  - (b) the tyres fitted to the taxi are not the same size as those which were on the vehicle when the taximeter was tested and sealed.
- (3) The driver or owner of a metered taxi
  - (a) must ensure that the taxi is fitted with a speedometer and an odometer, both of which are in good and proper working order, and that the odometer, subject to the provisions of subsection (1), reflects the true distance travelled; and
  - (b) may not operate or allow the taxi to be operated unless the speedometer fitted to it works properly.
- (5) A person who contravenes subsection (1), or a driver or owner who contravenes subsection (2) or (3) commits an offence.

### 126. Meters liable to be tested at any time

- (1) An authorised officer may by written notice instruct the owner or driver of a metered taxi to present the taxi concerned to an examiner of vehicles for examination and testing of the taximeter at a time and place specified in the notice.
- (2) An owner or driver who does not comply with an instruction as contemplated in subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 127. Charge for testing meters

The prescribed fees must be paid to the municipality for every taximeter tested by the municipality in terms of section 126.

## 128. Meters may be condemned

- (1) If a taximeter affixed to a metered taxi is found not to be in order and not working satisfactorily, an examiner of vehicles may condemn the taximeter and remove the seal or mark placed on it in terms of section 123.
- (2) No person may use a condemned taximeter in a taxi until the taximeter has been retested, approved and sealed by an examiner of vehicles, and a person who does so commits an offence.

### 129. Taxi signs for metered taxis

- (1) A metered taxi that is operated within the municipality must be fitted with an illuminated roof sign in accordance with the requirements set out in the Schedule to these by-laws.
- (2) The illuminated roof sign must be properly maintained at all times.

(3) A person who operates a metered taxi in contravention of subsection (1) or who fails to maintain a roof as contemplated in subsection (2) commits an offence.

### Part 5: Bus facilities and permits, and operation of buses

#### 130. Establishment of bus facilities

The provisions of section 82(1),(2) and (3) apply, with the necessary changes, to buses, and "special parking places" must, in relation to buses, be read as "demarcated stopping places or stands for buses" as contemplated in section 133.

# 131. Application and issue of bus permits, fees, display of decals, suspension and withdrawal of permit

- (1) The provisions of sections 83, 84, 85, 86, 89, 90, 91, 92, 94 and 95 apply, with the necessary changes, to buses.
- (2) Except for the buses provided for in subsection (3), a bus may not use a public transport facility within the municipal area, unless the bus displays the necessary decal.
- (3) A bus operator who transports passengers for reward and who owns more than 20 buses, but who uses fewer than 20 buses within the municipality for transporting passengers, must pay the permit fees due to the municipality for his or her buses according to the following formula:

The bus operator's maximum number of buses which on any day of the year is used for the above purposes, train buses excluded (for which individual permits and decals need to be obtained), multiplied by the prescribed permit fee payable per bus.

- (4) The permit fees for the number of buses referred to in the formula in subsection
- (3) are determined according to that bus of the operator which is certified to carry the largest number of passengers and which is normally used within the municipality, and the permit issued for these permit fees is not linked to any specific bus.
- (5) The bus operator must
  - (a) provide an audited certificate of the number of buses referred to in the formula above, together with his or her application to the Municipality;
    and
  - (b) each year after that, provide an audited certificate, together with any other documents that the Municipality may reasonably demand.
- (6) The owner of a bus who uses or allows to be used a bus in contravention of subsection (2) commits an offence.

### 132. General use and operation of buses

The provisions of sections 105 to 107 apply, with the necessary changes, to buses.

### 133. Distinguishing of demarcated stops and stands for buses

Each demarcated stopping place or stand must be distinguished by the appropriate traffic sign to indicate the type of bus or, where applicable, the name of the concern entitled to use the stopping place or stand.

### 134. Duty of driver to stop

- (1) If a bus operating on a bus route for the purpose of conveying passengers is carrying less than the maximum number of passengers that the bus is lawfully entitled to carry, and the driver of the bus sees a person waiting at a demarcated stopping place, apparently intending to get on the bus, the driver must, subject to subsection (2), stop the bus at the stopping place, as close as possible to the kerb or edge of the public road, in order to enable the person to get on.
- (2) The driver of a bus that has a notice that it is an "express", "limited stop" or "special vehicle" is not required to stop until reaching the destination specified by the notice.
- (3) No driver of a bus may stop the bus to pick up a passenger at a place that is not a demarcated stopping place or stand.
- (4) A conductor (if there is one) of a bus may not allow a person to get on a bus, and no person may get on a bus, at any place that is not a demarcated stopping place or stand.
- (5) The driver of a bus who contravenes subsection (1), (3) or (4) and a person who contravenes subsection (4) commit an offence.

### 135. Boarding and alighting from bus and passing of a school bus

- (1) The provisions of section 108(3), (4) and (5) apply, with the necessary changes, where a passenger intends to board or alight from a bus.
- (2) The operator of a vehicle may not pass a school bus that has stopped to load or offload learners and must remain stationary behind such bus until the bus continues its journey, unless the bus has stopped in a demarcated place, leaving the road open for travel.
- (3) Any person who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

## 136. Parking at stopping places for buses and destination signs

- (1) No driver or person in charge of a bus may park the bus at any stopping place on the route or allow the bus to be parked at any stopping place.
- (2) A driver or person in charge of a bus must ensure that a destination sign is displayed in the bus.
- (3) A driver or a person in charge of a bus who contravenes a provision of this section commits an offence.

#### Part 6: Enforcement

## 137. Permit to be produced on demand

- (1) The holder of a permit must
  - (a) maintain the permit in a good and legible condition; and
  - (b) keep the permit in the motor vehicle to which it relates at all relevant times when the vehicle is being operated as a taxi or bus.

- (2) A traffic officer may call on the driver of a taxi or bus to stop and may demand that he or she
  - (a) produce the permit; and
  - (b) give his or her full name and address and also the name and address of the owner of the taxi or bus.
- (3) A driver referred to in subsection (2) commits an offence if he or she
  - (a) fails or refuses to stop;
  - (b) fails or refuses to give his or her full name and address;
  - (c) fails or refuses to give the correct name and address of the owner of the vehicle in his or her charge;
  - (d) gives a false name or address; or
  - (e) fails or refuses to produce a permit.

### 138. Unauthorised handing over or abandonment of bus or taxi

- (1) No driver of a taxi or bus may -
  - (a) abandon his or her vehicle; or
  - (b) allow any other person to drive the taxi or bus under his or her control without the consent of the holder of the public road transportation permit concerned.
- (2) A driver who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

### 139. Enforcement of right of entry

- (1) An authorised officer may, in enforcing the provisions of this Chapter, at any reasonable time and without prior notice
  - (a) enter a taxi or bus facility to inspect the facility; and
  - (b) make enquires from a person connected with the facility.
- (2) A person who interferes with an officer in the exercise of his or her power as contemplated in subsection (1) commits an offence.

### Part 7: Miscellaneous provisions

## 140. Change of address of permit holder

- (1) If the permit holder changes his or her address during the currency of the permit, he or she must notify the municipality in writing of the new address not later than seven days after the change of address, and this notice must be delivered by hand, facsimile machine or certified mail.
- (2) A permit holder who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

## 141. Property left in passenger-carrying vehicles

- (1) The driver of a passenger-carrying vehicle must carefully examine the vehicle after a trip, and if a passenger has left behind any property in the vehicle, the driver must
  - (a) deliver that property to the person who left it behind; or

- (b) if he or she is unable to deliver that property to the person who left it behind, take the property, as soon as possible, to the lost property office of his or her employer or to the nearest police station and deposit it with the officer on duty and obtain a receipt for it.
- (2) A driver who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) commits an offence.

#### **CHAPTER 6: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS**

### 142. Obeying and interfering with an officer

- (1) An authorised official may direct all traffic by means of visible or audible signals, and no person may disobey such signals.
- (2) No person may obstruct, hinder, abuse, or interfere with any authorised official in the exercise of the powers in terms of these by-laws.
- (3) A person who contravenes a provision of subsection (1) or (2) commits an offence.

### 143. Appeal

- (1) A person whose rights are affected by a decision made under these by-laws may appeal against that decision by giving written notice of the appeal and reasons to the Municipal Manager within 21 days of the date of the notification of the decision.
- (2) The Municipal Manager must consider the appeal, and confirm, vary or revoke the decision, but no such variation or revocation of a decision may detract from any rights that may have accrued as a result of the decision.
- (3) When the appeal is against a decision taken by
  - (a) a staff member other than the Municipal Manager, the Municipal Manager is the appeal authority; or
  - (b) the Municipal Manager, the Executive Mayoral Committee is the appeal authority;
- (4) The appeal authority must commence with an appeal within six weeks and decide the appeal within a reasonable time.

## 144. Compliance notices and the recovery of costs

- (1) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this by-law, the municipality may -
  - (a) where the permission of the municipality is required before a person may perform a certain action or build or erect anything, and such permission has not been obtained; and
  - (b) where any provision of this by-law is contravened under circumstances in which the contravention may be terminated by the removal of any structure, object, material or substance,

serve a written notice on the owner of the premises or the offender, as the case may be, to terminate such contravention, or to remove the structure, object, material or substance, or to take such other steps as the municipality may require to rectify such contravention within the period stated in such notice.

(2) Any person who fails to comply with a notice in terms of subsection (1) commits an offence, and the municipality may, without prejudice to its powers to take action against the offender, take the necessary steps to implement such notice at the expense of the owner of the premises or the offender, as the case may be.

### 145. Presumptions

- (1) For the purpose of these by-laws, the person in whose name a vehicle which is parked in a parking ground is licensed, is deemed to be the person having control or charge of the vehicle, unless and until he or she adduces evidence to the contrary.
- (2) A motor vehicle that is found on a taxi or bus facility or that has stopped at a taxi or bus facility is presumed to be plying for hire, unless the contrary is proved.
- (3) (a) Where in any prosecution in terms of the common law relating to the driving of a vehicle on a public road, or in terms of these by-laws it is necessary to prove who was the driver of such vehicle, it is presumed, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that such vehicle was driven by the owner thereof.
  - (b) Whenever a vehicle is parked in contravention of any provision of these by-laws, it shall be presumed, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that such vehicle was parked by the owner thereof.
  - (c) For the purposes of these by-laws it is presumed, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that, where the owner of the vehicle concerned is a corporate body, such vehicle was driven or parked by a director or servant of the corporate body in the exercise of his or her powers or in the carrying out of his or her duties as such director or servant, or in furthering, or endeavouring to further the interests of the corporate body.
- (4) In any prosecution in terms of these by-laws, the fact that any person purports to act or has purported to act as a traffic officer or peace officer is *prima facie* proof of his or her appointment and authority so to act, however, this section does not apply to a prosecution on a charge for impersonation.
- (5) Any motor vehicle which is found on a taxi facility or which has stopped at a taxi facility will be presumed to be plying for hire, unless the contrary is proved.
- (6) Any person, who, by means of any motor vehicle, conveys passengers will be presumed to have conveyed such passengers for hire or reward, and such vehicle shall be presumed to be a taxi unless the contrary is proved.
- (7) A document which purports to be a receipt of prepaid registered post, a telefax transmission report or a signed acknowledgement of hand delivery, will on submission by a person being prosecuted under this by-law, be admissible in evidence and *prima facie* proof that it is such receipt, transmission report or acknowledgement.

#### 146. Penalties

A person who has committed an offence in terms of these by-laws is, on conviction, and subject to penalties prescribed in any other law, liable to a fine, or in default of payment, to imprisonment, or to such imprisonment without the option of a fine, or to both such fine and such imprisonment, and in the case of a successive or continuing offence, to a

fine for every day such offence continues, or in default of payment thereof, to imprisonment.

### 147. Saving and transitional provision

A person on whose premises any fence contemplated in section 28(1) is erected, is allowed a period of 12 calendar months from the date of commencement of these bylaws to make the necessary structural arrangements to comply with section 28(1).

### 148. Repeal of by-laws

The following by-laws and any other provision in any other by-law that is inconsistent with the provisions of these by-laws are hereby revoked:

(1) Nelson Mandela May Metropolitan Municipality:

Provincial Gazette No.			Title			Extent of repeal
1803/2007	By-laws	for	Roads,	Traffic	and	The whole
	safety					

#### 149. Short title and commencement

These by-laws are called the Nelson Mandela Bay Metropolitan Municipality By-laws for Roads, Traffic and Safety, and come into operation upon publication in the Provincial Gazette.

# SCHEDULE 1 (Section 129(1))

# SPECIFICATION FOR ROOF SIGNS FOR TAXIS IN TERMS OF SECTION 129(1)

- 1. The roof sign must be double-sided, and illuminated on both sides, and be capable of being fitted to a vehicle either by being bolted or riveted to the roof or fixed by brackets to the guttering of the vehicle.
- 2. The roof sign must be fitted in such a position that it is visible to both following and oncoming traffic in all types of weather conditions and must be uniformly illuminated in such a way that identification under all normal conditions is possible.
- 3. The roof sign must be illuminated during hire.
- 4. The roof sign must be constructed of 3mm acrylic sheeting, silk-screen printed on the inside with an acrylic-based silk screen paint. The outer measurements of the roof sign must not be more than 400mm in length, 200 mm in height and 200mm in depth.
- 5. The roof sign must have on it the word "Taxi" in 75mm high black letters, the relevant portion of the permit reference number and the operator's contact telephone number in 50mm high black figures on a white background.
- 6. All lettering on the sign must appear in bold type and must be at least 10mm wide, and the letter style must be DIN "A".